

From Nash to Cournot-Nash via Γ -convergence

João Miguel Machado, Guilherme Mazanti, Laurent Pfeiffer

▶ To cite this version:

João Miguel Machado, Guilherme Mazanti, Laurent Pfeiffer. From Nash to Cournot-Nash via Γ convergence. 2025. hal-04865363

HAL Id: hal-04865363 https://hal.science/hal-04865363v1

Preprint submitted on 6 Jan 2025

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

FROM NASH TO COURNOT-NASH VIA Γ CONVERGENCE

JOÃO MIGUEL MACHADO, GUILHERME MAZANTI, AND LAURENT PFEIFFER

ABSTRACT. In this work we study the question of when will Nash equilibria of N-player games converge to a suitable notion of equilibrium of a game with a continuum of players. This is a central question in Mean Field Games theory, but instead we consider the notion of Cournot-Nash equilibrium. When such a game has a so-called potential structure, we give a complete characterization of equilibria as the stationary points of a functional, which we call a potential function. In particular, its minimizers are equilibria. In the sequel, we focus on the case that the players interact pair-wise; in this case we show that the original sequence of N-player games also admit a potential structure and prove that their corresponding potential functions converge in the sense of Γ -convergence to the potential function of the game with a continuum of players. This allows us to answer positively to the question of convergence of equilibria.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1
1.1. Contributions of this work	4
Closed loop	5
Open loop	5
1.2. Related work	6
1.3. Examples	7
1.4. The organization of this paper:	8
2. Preliminaries in measure theory and optimal transport	9
2.1. Topologies on spaces of Radon measures	9
2.2. Random probability measures and their weak topologies	10
2.3. Γ-convergence	12
3. Potential structure and stability of the value function	12
3.1. Potential structure for Cournot-Nash equilibria	13
3.2. On the finiteness of the infimum	16
3.3. Stability of the value function	17
4. Convergence of Nash to Cournot-Nash	19
4.1. Convergence in the open loop formulation	19
4.2. Convergence in the closed loop formulation	26
5. Conclusion	32
Appendix A. The law of large numbers for symmetric functions of an i.i.d. sample	32
References	33

1. INTRODUCTION

The goal of this work is to consider a class of N-player games with pairwise interactions and rigorously show that Nash equilibria of this class of games converge, as N goes to infinity, to Cournot-Nash equilibria (see Definition 1.1 below) of a game with a continuum of players.

Let \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} be Polish spaces, that is separable and metrizable, representing the space of types of players and of admissible strategies. Given a tuple $(x_i)_{i=1}^N \subset \mathcal{X}$, where x_i

corresponds to the type of player i, the goal of each player is to minimize a cost depending on their own type and the mean pair-wise interaction with other players. In the described situation, player i seeks to

(1)
$$\min_{y_i \in \mathcal{Y}} g_N(y_i; y_{-i}) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} c(x_i, y_i) + L(y_i) + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{i \neq j} H(y_j, y_i),$$

where, as standard notation in game theory, $y_{-i} = (y_j)_{j \neq i}$. For the game in mixed strategies, we replace the \mathcal{Y} with $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$, the space of Radon probability measures over \mathcal{Y} , and each player seeks to

(2) minimize
$$g_N(\nu_i; \nu_{-i}) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{Y}} (c(x_i, y_i) + L(y_i)) \, \mathrm{d}\nu_i(y_i) + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{i \neq j} \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}\nu_j \otimes \nu_i$$

Such types of N-player games become rapidly intractable as N grows, hence one hopes that a suitable notion of equilibrium in a setting with infinitely many players will provide information for the behavior of equilibria when N is large but still finite. In many economic and social scenarios, the number of agents acting in the game reaches this regime of intractability, hence it is of great theoretical and practical importance to be able to rigorously describe the model with infinitely many players as the limit of a sequence of N-players games.

In the category of differential games, *i.e.* when players are constrained by controlled dynamics and hence solve an optimal control problem each, the notion of equilibrium in a setting with a continuum of players has been established by Larsy and Lions as *Mean Field Games* in their seminal papers [35–37]. In their formulation, an equilibrium becomes the solution of a pair of coupled PDEs, one describing the evolution of the probability distribution of players and another describing the optimality conditions of the underlying optimal control problem solved by each player. Although the convergence question was one of the primary motivations since the inception of the Mean Field Games theory in the lectures of Pierre-Louis Lions at Collège de France, see also the notes of Cardaliaguet [13], we still do not have a complete answer to this question.

On the other hand, the notion of games with a continuum of players is much older and has been studied in the economics literature since the 60's by Aumann [5,6]. Although Aumann formulated his notion of equilibrium with preference relations, as was noted in [39], an equivalent way of defining equilibria in the continuous setting is to consider a cost function, indexed by the player and depending on the collective distribution of plays. The game then consists of finding an equilibrium between each player trying to minimize the cost despite the effects of the collective distribution. In [45], Schmeidler was interested in a similar model with a continuum of players, but more specifically he wanted to obtain existence of equilibria in pure strategies. He described a profile of strategies as a measurable function from the space of players to the space of admissible strategies. Later on, this notion of equilibrium was relaxed, for instance in [29, 39], defining equilibria as probability measures over the space of admissible strategies, introducing the notion that is now known as *Cournot-Nash* equilibrium, see Definition 1.1 below.

This relaxation also played an important part in the development of the optimal transportation problem, described as follows: given two Polish spaces $(\mathcal{X}, d_{\mathcal{X}})$ and $(\mathcal{Y}, d_{\mathcal{Y}})$, a pair of Borel probability measures $\mu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X}), \nu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ and a transportation cost $c: \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \to \mathbb{R}$, one seeks to minimize the following

(3)
$$\mathcal{W}_{c}(\mu,\nu) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \inf_{T \notin \mu = \nu} \int_{\mathcal{X}} c(x,T(x)) d\mu = \min_{\gamma \in \Pi(\mu,\nu)} \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c(x,y) d\gamma.$$

The infimum on the left is known as Monge's formulation [40] and is taken over all measurable maps T that transport μ to ν , in the sense that for all measurable sets $B \subset \mathcal{Y}$ it holds that $T_{\sharp}\mu(B) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \mu(T^{-1}(B)) = \nu(B)$, where $T_{\sharp}\mu$ is called the push-forward measure. The minimum on the right side is called Kantorovitch formulation [33], which is taken among all couplings of μ and ν ,

(4)
$$\Pi(\mu,\nu) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \{ \gamma \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}) : (\pi_{\mathcal{X}})_{\sharp} \gamma = \mu, \ (\pi_{\mathcal{Y}})_{\sharp} \gamma = \nu \} \,,$$

that is the probability measures in the product space whose marginals are μ and ν .

Back to our interpretation from games (1)(2), where \mathcal{X} is the space of types of players, let $\mu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ be a fixed distribution of players and \mathcal{Y} is the space admissible strategies for said players, with distribution given by $\nu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$. A coupling $\gamma \in \Pi(\mu, \nu)$ now becomes the joint distribution of players and strategies. In other words, given $A \times B \subset \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$, the quantity $\gamma(A \times B)$ represents the probability that a player with type in A chooses a strategy in B.

Given a function $\Phi : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \times \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y}) \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$, let $\Phi(x, y, \nu)$ denote the cost of a player of type x to choose the strategy y, in a mean field of strategies represented by the distribution ν , we obtain the notion of *Cournot-Nash* equilibrium.

Definition 1.1. A probability measure $\gamma \in \Pi(\mu, \nu)$ is a *Cournot-Nash equilibrium* for the game referent to the cost $\Phi : \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \times \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ if it satisfies the *equilibrium condition*

(5)
$$\gamma\left(\left\{(x,y)\in\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}:y\in\operatorname*{argmin}_{y'\in\mathcal{Y}}\Phi(x,y',\nu)\right\}\right)=1,$$

it is called an *equilibrium of finite social cost* if

(6)
$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \Phi(x,y,\nu) \mathrm{d}\gamma < +\infty.$$

An equilibrium γ is called *pure* if it can be written as $\gamma = (\mathrm{id}, T)_{\sharp} \mu$, where $T : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ is a measurable map.

Results guaranteeing the existence of equilibria have been established with fixed point methods in the above-mentioned works. This approach relies strongly on the continuity of the cost function. In [9], whenever Φ has a potential structure, *i.e.* it can be written as

(7)
$$\Phi(x, y, \nu) = c(x, y) + \frac{\delta \mathcal{E}}{\delta \nu}[\nu](y),$$

the sum of an individual continuous cost c(x, y) and the first variation of a functional \mathcal{E} , Blanchet and Carlier showed that if $\gamma \in \Pi(\mu, \nu)$ is an optimal transportation plan for the cost c and

(8)
$$\nu \in \operatorname*{argmin}_{\nu' \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{W}_c(\mu, \nu') + \mathcal{E}(\nu),$$

then γ is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium in the sense of Definition 1.1. The advantage of their approach is twofold: firstly, as their proof of existence is of variational nature it provides a natural approach to compute equilibria numerically, as done in [8,9], see also [10] for an approach using entropic regularization of the OT term. The characterization via optimal transport also gives information about the existence of pure Cournot-Nash equilibria, the original motivation of Schmeidler, that is at first glance abandoned when we define equilibria as couplings instead of maps. Since equilibria are described as optimal solutions to an optimal transport problem with first marginal given by μ , one can then use the well established conditions from OT to conclude that equilibria are pure, under suitable assumptions on μ and c, see for instance [16,27] or the recent monograph [43].

It is worth noting that definition 1.1 deviates from the literature, for instance from the one from [9], as we also require the finite social cost condition. It is not restrictive to the analysis from [9], where the cost c is assumed continuous and the underlying spaces compact, so that (6) holds trivially. In economic modeling we want to take into account that not all strategies are accessible to all types of individuals. Richer individuals have access to better education, health care and financial products and services. On the other

hand, it is not reasonable that they benefit from governmental aids. For such reasons it is pertinent to allow c(x, y) to be $+\infty$ to model the fact that not all strategies are attainable for all players, so that (6) is no longer trivially satisfied.

1.1. Contributions of this work. In this paragraph we describe more precisely the setting and the results obtained in this work. Before passing to the convergence question, we give a full characterization of Cournot-Nash equilibria for costs having the potential structure from (7), where we assume only lower semi-continuity of c and \mathcal{E} . Instead of working with the energy $\nu \mapsto W_c(\mu, \nu) + \mathcal{E}(\nu)$, used in [9], we use a lifted energy over the space of transportation plans with fixed marginal μ , which is defined as

(9)
$$\mathcal{J}(\gamma) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \begin{cases} \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c(x, y) \mathrm{d}\gamma + \mathcal{E}(\nu), & \text{if } \gamma \in \Pi(\mu, \nu), \\ +\infty & \text{if } \gamma \notin \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}), \end{cases}$$

where

(10)
$$\mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \left\{ \gamma \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}) : (\pi_{\mathcal{X}})_{\sharp} \gamma = \mu \right\}$$

We show in Theorem 3.3 that γ is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium if, and only if, it is an extremal point of the energy \mathcal{J} , see Definition 3.1. As the cost c can now be any l.s.c. function, we cannot resort to the same techniques from [9], as the latter relies strongly on the continuity of the cost to have uniqueness of solutions of the dual problem.

In the sequel we focus our attention to the case that \mathcal{E} can be decomposed into a mean individual and interaction energies as follows

(11)
$$\mathcal{E}(\nu) = \mathcal{L}(\nu) + \mathcal{H}(\nu, \nu), \text{ where } \mathcal{L}(\nu) = \int_{\mathcal{Y}} L d\nu \text{ and } \mathcal{H}(\nu, \nu) = \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H d\nu \otimes \nu,$$

where the first variation of the energy can be explicitly computed as

(12)
$$\frac{\delta \mathcal{E}}{\delta \nu}(\nu) = L + 2 \int_{\mathcal{Y}} H(\cdot, y) \mathrm{d}\nu(y),$$

whenever H is symmetric. We make the following assumptions on these functionals

- (H1) $\mu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ is atomless.
- (H2) $L: \mathcal{Y} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$ is lower semi-continuous and $H: \mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$ is Borel measurable.
- (H3) *H* is symmetric, i.e., $H(y, \tilde{y}) = H(\tilde{y}, y)$ for every $(y, \tilde{y}) \in \mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}$.

(H4) The function $\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y} \ni (y, \tilde{y}) \mapsto L(y) + L(\tilde{y}) + H(y, \tilde{y}) \in \mathbb{R}_+$ is lower semi-continuous.

(H5) L has compact level sets, *i.e.* for every $\kappa > 0$, the set $\{L \leq \kappa\}$ is compact.

Under these conditions the characterization of Cournot-Nash equilibria holds, and we focus our attention to a stability result for the minimization of the energy \mathcal{J} with respect to the marginal μ . In particular, under additional assumption (H6), in Theorem 3.10 we show a Lipschitz dependence of the value function for the 1-Wasserstein distance.

Once we understand the structure of the game with a continuum of players, we wish to answer the following question:

Given a sample of players following a continuous distribution, when will a sequence of Nash equilibria for the associated finite game will converge to a Cournot-Nash equilibrium?

More precisely, let $(X_i)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ be an *i.i.d.* sequence of random variables with law $\mu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$, representing a sample of players, and we let the N first elements represent the type of the agents in our N-player game. Consider the probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ induced by the sample $(X_i)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$, so that Ω represents all the possible realizations of this sampling, \mathcal{F} is the σ -algebra generated by the random variables X_i and, $\mathbb{P} = \mu^{\otimes \mathbb{N}}$. We can think of two types of *information structure* for our game. **Closed loop.** The first and more natural one is a *closed loop information structure*, where each player knows their type before choosing their strategy. In other words, given an event $\omega = (X_i = x_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$, each player seeks to

(13)
$$\begin{aligned}
& \min_{\nu_i \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})} J_{\omega,i}(\nu_i, \nu_{-i}) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(x_i, y) d\nu_i + \int_{\mathcal{Y}} L d\nu_i + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{j \neq i} \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H d\nu_i \otimes \nu_j \\
&= \int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(x_i, y) d\nu_i + \mathcal{L}(\nu_i) + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{j \neq i} \mathcal{H}(\nu_i, \nu_j).
\end{aligned}$$

Open loop. The second one is an open loop information structure, where each player chooses a strategy before having the knowledge of the realization of the sample, in other words each player chooses an optimal execution strategy conditioned to the realization of their random variable. In this case, an admissible strategy is given by a measurable family $(\nu^x)_{x \in \mathcal{X}} \subset \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$, which is equivalent to considering a random probability measure $\nu \in \mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{Y})$, see Section 2.2 or [19,32], and the cost of player *i* becomes

(14)
$$\min_{\boldsymbol{\nu}_i \in \mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,i}\left(\boldsymbol{\nu}_i, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{-i}\right) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}\left[\int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(X_i, y) \mathrm{d}\nu_i^{X_i} + \mathcal{L}(\nu_i^{X_i}) + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{i \neq j} \mathcal{H}\left(\nu_i^{X_i}, \nu_j^{X_j}\right) \right],$$

where $\boldsymbol{\nu}_i = \nu_i^{X_i}$ for some measurable family $(\nu_i^x)_{x \in \mathcal{X}}$.

In (13) and (14) we have excluded the cross terms $\mathcal{H}(\nu_i, \nu_i)$ for two reasons. From a modeling perspective, it makes sense that agents do not interact with themselves, which is exactly what this term represents. In addition, this formulation makes sense in pure strategies even in the case where the pairwise interaction diverges in the diagonal, $H(y, y) = +\infty$, for instance the case of an electrostatic interaction, see *e.g.* example 3.7. If we had kept the self-interaction in this case, any pure strategy would yield the player the value $+\infty$. We shall also consider the case that the pairwise interaction vanishes in the diagonal, *i.e.* H(y, y) = 0. For the formulation in pure strategies this does not affect the cost functions of each player, but in mixed plays the diagonal terms $\mathcal{H}(\nu_i, \nu_i)$ can be included, see Proposition 4.9.

We prove in Propositions 4.9 and 4.2 that both formulations admit a potential functional, that is a functional whose minimizers give Nash equilibria to their corresponding game. In the closed loop case it is obtained by averaging the cost of each player

(15)
$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}(\gamma_N) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \begin{cases} \int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} c d\gamma_N + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathcal{L}(\nu^{x_i}) \\ + \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{j \neq i} \mathcal{H}(\nu^{x_i}, \nu^{x_j}), \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases} \text{ if } \gamma_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i} \otimes \nu^{x_i}, \end{cases}$$

For the open loop formulation, a potential functional can be analogously defined as

(16)
$$\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \begin{cases} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}} \left[\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N) \right], & \text{if } \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{X_i} \otimes \nu^x, \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

To prove the convergence of Nash to Cournot-Nash equilibria, we show that both families of functionals converge in a variational sense to \mathcal{J} , the potential functional that yields Cournot-Nash equilibria. This variational sense is the so called notion of Γ -convergence, proposed by De Giorgi (see Section 2.3 and the references therein) for its fundamental property, which states that if a sequence of minimizers to some family of functionals that Γ converge has a limit, then this limit is a minimizer of the Γ -limit. This convergence combined with the potential structure of both the sequences of N-player games and that of Cournot-Nash equilibria, immediately implies the desired convergence of equilibria obtained via the minimization of $\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}$ and $\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}$. With slightly stronger assumptions, that H is continuous and bounded, we can prove that limits of any sequence of Nash equilibria satisfy the stationarity condition of the functional \mathcal{J} , which is equivalent to being a Cournot-Nash equilibrium.

We start with the open loop case in Section 4.1, since the Γ -convergence of $\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}$ to \mathcal{J} is more straight forward. However, it has the additional difficulty of being the convergence of a functional over random measures to a functional over deterministic inputs. This issue is overcome with Lemma 4.3, by noticing that the stochasticity of the measures in the domain of (16) is restricted to the first marginal, which is an empirical measure and so converges with full probability to the common law of the sample. For the closed loop case, one can only hope to have a convergence result with full probability, hence in Lemma 4.10 we show a preliminary result that gives a weaker criterion for Γ -convergence with full probability. In the sequel, we show in Theorem 4.12, we conclude our convergence proof using this Lemma.

1.2. **Related work.** In this paragraph we describe previous results from the literature that are similar to ours thematically or in terms of the tools employed.

Convergence of Nash equilibria. As mentioned before, the convergence of Nash equilibria to equilibria in a continuous setting is a reoccurring idea in the Game Theory literature. Next we give a non-exhaustive list of advancements in this direction:

- in [15], the authors study the convergence question in the framework of MFGs by means of the Master equation, an equation in the space of probability measures that give global information on the optimality of the MFG system, which can then be viewed as the limit of the equilibrium conditions of N-player differential games. The analysis therein assumes that the coupling in the MFG system is non-local and promotes enough regularization to pass the gradients of the value function in the limit;
- the case of a local coupling was later treated in [14]. Both of these impressive works have a very fine analysis of the PDE system associated with the games, and therefore they concern the convergence of optimality conditions for the involved games and not necessarily the convergence of equilibria, which is largely open. This way, our approach allows to extract more information for a problem with more structure;
- the study of convergence of Nash to Cournot-Nash equilibria was conducted in [7], under the assumption that the sequence of functions defining the problem Φ_N : $\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \times \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$, as in Definition 1.1, are uniformy Lipschitz in the topology of $(d_{\mathcal{X}}, d_{\mathcal{Y}}, \mathcal{W}_1)$ and converge uniformly to Φ . While our problem enjoys the pairwise (and also potential) structure, our regularity assumptions are minimal and allow the treatment of many examples, c.f. subsection 1.3.

 Γ -convergence for points clouds. Concerning the continuum limits of particle systems, our methods are conceptually close to those of Serfaty in [46] for the study the limits of particle systems under Coulomb type interactions. The major difference lies in the further complexity that the first marginal constraint, which is natural to our problem to fix the distribution of players μ (or μ_N in the N-players case), otherwise an elegant application of the probabilistic method¹ would give a simple proof of the Γ -convergence result as done in the recent lecture notes [47].

Concerning the probabilistic side of our Γ -convergence results we must mention [28], which concerns the continuum limit of the total variation functional defined on graphs

¹Developed in the context of random graph theory [1]

induced by i.i.d. point clouds. Given is a rescaled convolution kernel η and an i.i.d. sample $(X_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ with continuous law ρ , the authors prove that the functional

$$GTV_{N,\varepsilon_N}(u) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \frac{1}{\varepsilon_N} \frac{1}{N^2} \eta_{\varepsilon_N}(X_i - X_j) |u(X_i) - u(X_j)|,$$

converges with full probability, in the sense of Γ -convergence, to the weighted total variation functional $\mathrm{TV}(u;\rho)$, which for $u \in W^{1,1}$ is given by $\mathrm{TV}(u;\rho) = \int |\nabla u| \rho^2 \mathrm{d}x$. Their results are conditional to a good scaling of the parameter ε_N , so that $\varepsilon_N \ll W_{\infty}(\rho, \rho_N)$, that is the maximal distance of the optimal matching problem between the empirical measure ρ_N of a sample with common distribution ρ , which can be precisely estimated as $N \to \infty$ with full probability. This is the only probabilistic element in their analysis, and afterwards their methods become purely deterministic.

1.3. **Examples.** In this paragraph we discuss multiple examples that are covered by our model and their relevance in the literature.

Potential Cournot-Nash equilibria [9]. The first clear example is the model proposed by Blanchet and Carlier in [9]. As discussed above, they proposed a variational principle to find equilibria as in Definition 1.1 and gave plenty of examples of economic applications for this model as the holiday choice and technology choice models. The distinctions from ours is that, for them c had to be a continuous cost in order to give the variational characterization of equilibria using the OT problem as in equation (8). We do not need this assumption since we propose the lifting to the space of transportation plans $\gamma \in$ $\mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$. This lift is purely technical and the characterization via the value of the associated OT problem still holds in our case and is useful for numerical purposes, since one can use the dual formulation of the OT problem as a dimensionality reduction technique. On the other hand, taking c to be lower semi-continuous allows us to make a link with the next class of examples.

Abstract Lagrangian Mean Field Games [44]. Consider a crowd motion, where the starting point of each agent is distributed by a probability measure μ and the final goal of each agent is to reach a target set while minimizing a cost depending on their own trajectory and on the distribution of trajectories of all agents Q. One can think of the target set as the exit of a metro, for instance. In [44], Santambrogio and Shim propose a model where each agent chooses their trajectory among all possible continuous curves respecting their given initial condition. In this case, $\mathcal{X} = \Omega$ is a compact subset of \mathbb{R}^d and $\mathcal{Y} = C^0([0, T]; \Omega)$. Each agent then tries to find a curve σ , such that $\sigma(0) = x_0$, the given initial condition, while minimizing an energy of the form

$$F(\sigma, Q) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_0^T \left(|\sigma'(t)|^2 + \int_{\mathcal{Y}} \eta(\sigma(t) - \tilde{\sigma}(t)) |\sigma'(t) - \tilde{\sigma}'(t)|^2 \mathrm{d}Q(\tilde{\sigma}) \right) \mathrm{d}t + \Psi(\gamma(T))$$

Here Ψ is an end point cost and η is an interaction kernel of Cucker-Smale type in order to observe a phenomenon of consensus of the velocities as in the seminal paper [20]. The measure Q corresponds to the distribution of trajectories of all agents so that the integral term becomes a mean interaction cost and the initial condition is then imposed by the constraint $(e_0)_{\sharp}Q = \mu$. They defined equilibria as measures $Q \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ such that $(e_0)_{\sharp}Q = \mu$ and

(17)
$$\int_{\mathcal{Y}} F(\sigma, Q) dQ < \infty, \text{ and } F(\sigma, Q) = \inf_{\tilde{\sigma}(0) = \sigma(0)} F(\tilde{\sigma}, Q), \text{ for all } \sigma \in \operatorname{supp} Q.$$

In [42], this model was generalized into an abstract model, where F is given by

$$F(\sigma, Q) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} L(\sigma) + \int_{\mathcal{Y}} H(\sigma, \tilde{\sigma}) \mathrm{d}Q(\tilde{\sigma}),$$

where $L: \mathcal{Y} \to \mathbb{R}$ is an individual cost, $H(\cdot, \cdot): \mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a symmetric cost of pairwise interaction, where \mathcal{Y} is an abstract space of admissible strategies, being a Polish space. The players are now labelled by some $x \in \mathcal{X}$, another Polish space of types of players following a distribution $\mu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$. The initial condition map is now replaced by a continuous map $\pi: \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$, and we consider measures $Q \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ such that $\pi_{\sharp}Q = \mu$. Their notion of equilibrium is the same as in (17), but they show that equilibria are critical points of the following functional

$$Q \mapsto \int_{\mathcal{Y}} L \mathrm{d}Q + \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}Q \otimes Q.$$

This suggests a link with the previous model of Cournot-Nash equilibria and indeed, for $c(x, y) = \chi_{\pi^{-1}(y)}(x)$ we can rewrite the constraints as

$$\pi_{\sharp}\nu = \mu \iff \mathcal{W}_{c}(\mu,\nu) < \infty, \text{ since } \mathcal{W}_{c}(\mu,\nu) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \pi_{\sharp}\nu = \mu, \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Conversely, if we propose the lifted energy to the space of transportation plans (9), the variational criterion for Cournot-Nash equilibria from Blanchet and Carlier is of the same form as the one for Lagrangian MFGs.

Wasserstein gradient flows (JKO schemes). For the final example, let $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{Y} = \Omega$ be a compact subset of \mathbb{R}^d . We wish to discuss the case of Wasserstein gradient flows, also known as JKO schemes in reference to the seminal paper of Jordan, Kinderlehrer, and Otto [31], where the authors proposed a variational formulation of the Fokker–Planck equation. Their ideas were later generalized to other evolution equations, for instance in [3], see also [43, Chap. 8]. The scheme consists in solving the following variational problem iteratively

(18)
$$\min_{\rho \in \mathscr{P}(\Omega)} \frac{1}{2\tau} W_2^2(\rho_k, \rho) + \mathcal{F}(\rho) = \min_{\gamma \in \mathscr{P}\rho_k(\Omega \times \Omega)} \frac{1}{2\tau} \int_{\Omega \times \Omega} |x - y|^2 \mathrm{d}\gamma + \mathcal{F}(\pi_{2,\sharp}\gamma)$$

where W_2^2 corresponds to the value of the OT problem with $c(x,y) = |x - y|^2$. By solving this sequence of variational problems, one obtains a sequence $(\rho_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ and define an interpolation depending on the parameter τ as

$$\rho_{\tau}(t) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \rho_k \text{ if } t \in [k\tau, (k+1)\tau).$$

For a variety of choices of \mathcal{F} , it can be shown that ρ_{τ} converges as $\tau \to 0$ to a solution of the evolution equation

(19)
$$\partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div}\left(\rho \nabla \frac{\delta \mathcal{F}}{\delta \rho}(\rho)\right) = 0, \quad \rho(0) = \rho_0.$$

with no-flux boundary conditions.

The case, see [17, 18],

$$\mathcal{F}(\rho) = \int_{\Omega} V(x) \mathrm{d}\rho(x) + \int_{\Omega \times \Omega} W(x-y) \mathrm{d}\rho \otimes \rho(x,y),$$

corresponds to an advection plus aggregation phenomenon, that is covered by our Γ -convergence results.

1.4. The organization of this paper: in Section 2 we review the major tools of measure theory, optimal transport and Γ -convergence that are used throughout the present manuscript. In Section 3 we prove the full characterization of Cournot-Nash equilibria in our potential setting and pass to stability question of the value function of our problem w.r.t. the distribution of players, which is of independent interest. Finally, in Section 4 we prove our main Γ -convergence results our sequences of open and closed loop *N*-player games. In Section 5 we give our concluding remarks and possible directions.

2. Preliminaries in measure theory and optimal transport

In this section we review the mathematical tools we require and also to fix the notation to be used throughout the text. The first two paragraphs are dedicated to the topologies of spaces of probability measures and the optimal transportation problem. Next, we introduce the space of random probability measures and the compactness properties à la Prokhorov that it enjoys. We finish with a brief discussion about Γ -convergence that is the main ingredient of our proofs.

2.1. Topologies on spaces of Radon measures. In this paper, we shall work with general Polish spaces $(\mathcal{X}, d_{\mathcal{X}})$, that is a complete separable space equipped with a metric topology. We let $\mathcal{M}_b(\mathcal{X})$ denote the space of finite Radon measures over \mathcal{X} , the space of all Borel measures μ such that $\mu(K) < \infty$ whenever K is compact. We let $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ denote the subspace of probability measures over \mathcal{X} , *i.e.* positive measures with unitary total mass.

It follows from Riesz' representation theorem that $\mathcal{M}_b(\mathcal{X})$ is the topological dual space of $C_0(\mathcal{X})$, the continuous functions converging to 0 at infinity, see [25, Chap.1]. This defines a norm in $\mathcal{M}_b(\mathcal{X})$, the total variation norm, and also its weak- \star topology. We can define other notions of weak topology by changing the set of test functions.

Definition 2.1. Given a suitable space of functions \mathcal{K} , we say a sequence of measures $(\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges in the narrow topology to μ if

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}} \phi \mathrm{d}\mu_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \int_{\mathcal{X}} \phi \mathrm{d}\mu_n \text{ for every } \phi \in C_b(\mathcal{X}),$$

where $C_b(\mathcal{X})$, is the set of continuous and bounded functions, and we write $\mu_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \mu$.

Notice that if μ_n converges to μ in the weak- \star topology, there is no guaranteeing that $\mu(\mathcal{X}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n(\mathcal{X})$, the norm $|\cdot|(\mathcal{X})$ is only l.s.c. for this notion of convergence. For the narrow convergence, however, as it is in duality with $C_b(\mathcal{X})$, we can consider the constant 1 as test function and obtain the convergence of the total masses. This implies that $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ is closed for the narrow topology, but not for the weak- \star , unless \mathcal{X} is compact. Besides this, we also have a nice criterion of compactness for the narrow topology.

Theorem 2.2 (Prokhorov). Let $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ be a family of probability measures over \mathcal{X} . Then \mathcal{F} is compact for the narrow topology, if and only if, it is a tight family, i.e. for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a compact set K such that

$$\mu(\mathcal{X} \setminus K) < \varepsilon, \text{ for all } \mu \in \mathcal{F}.$$

Actually, the set $\mathcal{K} = C_b(\mathcal{X})$ is not the minimal set for which we can define a weak topology that yields the narrow convergence. This is clear since we can always approximate functions in $C_b(\mathcal{X})$ with Lipschitz functions, but we can even construct a countable set of test functions yielding the narrow convergence.

Proposition 2.3 ([3, Chapter 5]). There exists a countable set $\mathcal{K} = (f_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ of Lipschitz functions, such that any sequence $(\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges narrowly to μ , if and only if,

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}} f_k \mathrm{d}\mu_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \int_{\mathcal{X}} f_k \mathrm{d}\mu, \text{ for all } k \in \mathbb{N}$$

Now consider a pair of Polish spaces $(\mathcal{X}, d_{\mathcal{X}})$ and $(\mathcal{Y}, d_{\mathcal{Y}})$ and let $\mathcal{X} \ni x \mapsto \nu^x \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ be a measure-valued map.

Definition 2.4. We say $(\nu^x)_{x \in \mathcal{X}}$ is measurable if for any Borel set $B \subset \mathcal{Y}$, the function $x \mapsto \nu^x(B)$ is Borel measurable.

Now given $\mu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ we can define a new probability measure $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ in the product space through duality as

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} f(x,y) \mathrm{d}\gamma(x,y) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{Y}} \left(\int_{\mathcal{X}} f(x,y) \mathrm{d}\nu^{x}(y) \right) \mu(x),$$

and we use the notation $\gamma = \mu \otimes \nu^x$. It turns out that all measures $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ can be written in this way as a consequence of the *disintegration theorem*, see [48, Thm. 1.1.6] for a proof in Polish spaces.

Theorem 2.5. Let \mathcal{X}_0 and \mathcal{X}_1 be Polish spaces, and two probability measures $\mu_0 \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X}_0)$ and $\mu_1 \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X}_1)$. If $\pi : \mathcal{X}_0 \to \mathcal{X}_1$ is a measurable map such that $\pi_{\sharp}\mu_0 = \mu_1$, then there exists a μ_1 -a.e. uniquely determined Borel family $(\mu_0^{x_1})_{x_1 \in \mathcal{X}_1} \subset \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X}_0)$ such that

$$\mu_0^{x_1}(\mathcal{X}_0 \setminus \pi^{-1}(x_1)) = 0 \text{ for } \mu_1\text{-}a.e. \ x_1 \in \mathcal{X}_1,$$

and for every measurable function $f:\mathcal{X}_0\to [0,+\infty]$ if holds that

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}_0} f(x_0) \mathrm{d}\mu_0(x_0) = \int_{\mathcal{X}_1} \left(\int_{\pi^{-1}(x_1)} f(x_0) \mathrm{d}\mu_0^{x_1}(x_0) \right) \mathrm{d}\mu_1(x_1).$$

Any such $(\mu_0^{x_1})_{x_1 \in \mathcal{X}_1}$ is called a disintegration family and we write $\mu_0 = \mu_0^{x_1} \otimes \mu_1$.

Whenever $\gamma \in \Pi(\mu, \nu)$, we apply the previous theorem with $\mathcal{X}_0 = \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$, $\mathcal{X}_1 = \mathcal{X}$ and $\pi = \pi_{\mathcal{X}}$ to write $\gamma = \mu \otimes \nu^x$. We could also consider the disintegration w.r.t. the second marginal, in which case we write $\gamma = \mu^y \otimes \nu$. One of the most useful, yet simple, applications of the disintegration theorem is the gluing lemma.

Lemma 2.6. [3, Lemma 5.3.2] Let $\mathcal{X}_1, \mathcal{X}_2, \mathcal{X}_3$ be Polish spaces, $\gamma_{1,2} \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X}_1 \times \mathcal{X}_2)$ and $\gamma_{1,3} \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X}_1 \times \mathcal{X}_3)$ such that

$$(\pi_{\mathcal{X}_1})_{\sharp}\gamma_{1,2} = (\pi_{\mathcal{X}_1})_{\sharp}\gamma_{1,3} = \mu_1.$$

Then there exists $\gamma_{1,2,3} \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X}_1 \times \mathcal{X}_2 \times \mathcal{X}_3)$ such that

$$(\pi_{\mathcal{X}_1,\mathcal{X}_2})_{\sharp}\gamma_{1,2,3} = \gamma_{1,2} and (\pi_{\mathcal{X}_1,\mathcal{X}_3})_{\sharp}\gamma_{1,2,3} = \gamma_{1,3}.$$

Proof. The proof consists on taking the disintegration families $\gamma_{1,2} = \gamma_{1,2}^{x_1} \otimes \mu_1(x_1)$, $\gamma_{1,3} = \gamma_{1,3}^{x_1} \otimes \mu_1(x_1)$ and defining the new measure as

$$\gamma_{1,2,3} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{X}_1} \gamma_{1,2}^{x_1} \otimes \gamma_{1,3}^{x_1} \mathrm{d}\mu_1(x_1).$$

2.2. Random probability measures and their weak topologies. We will also use in this work, the notion of random probability measure. The simplest example of this kind of object is a sequence of empirical measures, that is, given an *i.i.d.* sample of random variables $(X_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ we define the measures

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}_N \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{X_i}.$$

Clearly, for each realization of the random variables we obtain a different discrete measure. For a random sample of agents $(X_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$, we will describe a profile of strategies with the measures

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N = rac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{X_i} \otimes \nu_i,$$

where $\nu_i \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ represents the strategy, possibly in mixed plays, of player *i*. In general, a random measure is defined as follows.

10

Definition 2.7. Given a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ and a Polish space \mathcal{X} , a random measure μ is a map from Ω into the space of Radon measures

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}:\Omega\ni\omega\mapsto\boldsymbol{\mu}(\omega)\in\mathcal{M}_b(\mathcal{X}),$$

which is measurable for the Borel σ -algebra defined with respect to the narrow topology, in duality with $C_b(\mathcal{X})$. We let $\mathcal{M}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$ denote the space of all random measures, and $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$ is the convex subset of $\mathcal{M}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$ consisting of all $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ -valued random probability measures.

Given $\mu_b \in \mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$, the map

$$C_b(\mathcal{X}) \ni \phi \mapsto \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{X}} \phi \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\mu}(\omega)\right],$$

is a bounded linear map over $C_b(\mathcal{X})$, so from Riesz' representation theorem this defines a non-random measure via duality, the *expectation measure* $\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\mu} \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ as

(20)
$$\int_{\mathcal{X}} \phi d\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\mu} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{X}} \phi d\boldsymbol{\mu}(\omega)\right]$$

In particular, a random measure can be identified by a non-random measure if, and only if, it coincides with its expectation almost surely.

The Glivenko-Cantelli law of large numbers, also known as the Glivenko-Cantelli theorem [22], states that the empirical measures μ_N converge in the narrow topology to μ with probability 1. Hence, in order to give a topology to $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$, the first naive candidate would be to consider \mathbb{P} -a.s. convergence of the random measures in the narrow topology. However, this topology would not be metrizable, and it also does not enjoy good compactness properties as Prokhorov's Theorem [23]. For these reasons, we consider the narrow topology in $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$.

Definition 2.8. We say that an $f : \Omega \times \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a random bounded continuous function, and we let $C_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$ denote the class of all such functions, if²

(1) $x \mapsto f(\omega, x) \in C_b(\mathcal{X})$ almost surely;

(2) $\omega \mapsto f(\omega, x)$ is \mathcal{F} -measurable for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$;

(3) $\omega \mapsto \|f(\omega, \cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathcal{X})}$ is integrable with respect to \mathbb{P} .

The narrow topology of random measures is then the weakest topology that makes

$$\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X}) \ni \boldsymbol{\mu} \mapsto \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}\left[\int_{X} f(\omega, x) d\boldsymbol{\mu}_{\omega}(x)\right] \text{ continuous for all } f \in C_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X}).$$

Since the functions of the form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} 1_{A_i}(\omega) f_i(x), \text{ for } A_i \quad \mathbb{P}\text{-measurable and } f_i \in C_b(\mathcal{X}),$$

are dense in $C_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$, it follows that \mathbb{P} -a.s. convergence implies convergence in the narrow topology of $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$. The advantage is that the latter enjoys compactness properties analogous to Prokhorov's Theorem 2.2. This is extremely useful since, even if one can show that a sequence of random probability measures is tight almost surely and apply the classical version of Prokhorov's Theorem, for each event ω will be associated a subsequence where narrow convergence holds, but we cannot in general obtain a single subsequence that converges \mathbb{P} -almost surely. Hence the usefulness of the following result, see [19, Thm. 4.29].

Theorem 2.9 (Random Prokhorov's Theorem). A family of random measures $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$ is pre-compact for the narrow topology of random measures, if and only if, it is tight: for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a compact set K_{ε} such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\boldsymbol{\mu}(\mathcal{X}\setminus K_{\varepsilon})\right] \leq \varepsilon \text{ for every } \boldsymbol{\mu} \in \mathcal{F}.$$

²In [4] the random continuous functions are also called Carathéodory integrands.

2.3. Γ -convergence. The key idea in order to prove the convergence of certain Nash equilibria, associated with potential games, to Cournot-Nash equilibria is to exploit the fact that one can obtain such objects through the minimization of a family of energies indexed by the number of players. The main argument consists in showing that these energies converge in the sense of Γ convergence to the potential function that describes Cournot-Nash equilibria. This notion of convergence is defined as follows.

Definition 2.10. Let $(\mathcal{X}, d_{\mathcal{X}})$ be a complete metric space, a sequence of functionals $\mathscr{F}_n : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ Γ -converges to \mathscr{F} , if

• $\underline{\Gamma - \liminf}$ for every sequence $x_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{d_{\mathcal{X}}} x$ in \mathcal{X} , it holds that

$$\mathscr{F}(x) \leq \liminf_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_N(x_N).$$

• $\underline{\Gamma - \limsup}$ for every $x \in \mathcal{X}$, there is a sequence $x_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{d_{\mathcal{X}}} x$ such that

$$\limsup_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_N(x_N) \le \mathscr{F}(x),$$

 $(x_N)_{N\in\mathbb{N}}$ is called the recovery sequence of x.

The notion of Γ -convergence was introduced by De Giorgi in order to have good properties concerning the limits of minimizers of variational problems, see for instance [21]. In this sense, the fundamental property that makes it interesting is the fact that cluster points of minimizers of a sequence of minimizers of \mathscr{F}_N , which Γ -converges to \mathscr{F} , are minimizers of \mathscr{F} . Indeed, let $(x_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of minimizers of $(\mathscr{F}_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ converging to x. For an arbitrary $x' \in \mathcal{X}$, let x'_N be a corresponding recovery sequence, then it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{F}(x) &\leq \liminf_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_N(x_N) & \text{by the } \Gamma - \liminf \text{ inequality} \\ &\leq \liminf_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_N(x'_N) & \text{by the minimality of } x_N \\ &\leq \limsup_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_N(x'_N) \leq \mathscr{F}(x') & \text{since } x'_N \text{ is a recovery sequence.} \end{aligned}$$

As x' was an arbitrary point of \mathcal{X} , it follows that x is a minimizer of \mathscr{F} .

Equivalently, given a sequence of functionals \mathscr{F}_N , we define the lower and upper Γ limits, respectively, as

(21)
$$\Gamma - \liminf \mathscr{F}_N(x) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \inf \left\{ \liminf_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_N(x_N) : x_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} x \right\},$$
$$\Gamma - \limsup \mathscr{F}_N(x) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \inf \left\{ \limsup_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_N(x_N) : x_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} x \right\}.$$

From [11, Prop. 1.28], both Γ upper and lower limits are lower semi-continuous and $\mathscr{F}_N \xrightarrow{\Gamma} \mathscr{F}$ if and only if Γ -lim inf $\mathscr{F}_N = \Gamma$ -lim sup $\mathscr{F}_N = \mathscr{F}$.

3. POTENTIAL STRUCTURE AND STABILITY OF THE VALUE FUNCTION

In this section, our objective is twofold, first we extend the results of Blanchet and Carlier about the potential structure for Cournot-Nash equilibria, allowing for individual costs c that are l.s.c. instead of continuous. In the sequel we show a stability result of the value function w.r.t. the fixed marginal μ .

3.1. Potential structure for Cournot-Nash equilibria. The goal of this section is to characterize equilibria in the sense of Definition 1.1 as critical points of an energy functional. For now, we assume that the optimization problem a player of type $x \in \mathcal{X}$ tries to solve among a mean field of plays $\nu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ is given by

(22)
$$\min_{y \in \mathcal{Y}} \Phi(x, y, \nu) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} c(x, y) + \frac{\delta \mathcal{E}}{\delta \nu}(\nu)(y),$$

where c is l.s.c. and the second term can be written as the first variation of an energy $\mathcal{E}: \mathscr{P}(\nu) \to \mathbb{R}$, which is defined below.

Definition 3.1. We say that a functional \mathcal{F} defined over the probability measures $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ over a Polish space \mathcal{X} admits a first variation at $\mu_0 \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ if there exists a measurable function $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that f is $\mu - \mu_0$ integrable for all μ in the domain of \mathcal{F} and such that

(23)
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\varepsilon}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0^+} \mathcal{F}(\mu_0 + \varepsilon(\mu - \mu_0)) = \langle f, \mu - \mu_0 \rangle \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{X}} f \mathrm{d}(\mu - \mu_0),$$

and we write $f = \frac{\delta \mathcal{F}}{\delta \mu}(\mu_0)$. In addition, we say that μ_0 is a critical point of \mathcal{F} if

$$\left\langle \frac{\delta \mathcal{F}}{\delta \mu}(\mu_0), \mu - \mu_0 \right\rangle \ge 0 \text{ for all } \mu \in \operatorname{dom} \mathcal{F}.$$

It is clear that the first variation as in Definition 3.1 cannot be unique, since summing a constant to a function satisfying (23) will still satisfy the same relation, as the integration is taken against $\mu - \mu_0$, which integrates to 0. It is, however, unique up to a constant.

For the rest of this paragraph, we let \mathcal{E} be an l.s.c. functional over $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$, and we consider the energy

(24)
$$\mathcal{J}(\gamma) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \begin{cases} \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c(x, y) \mathrm{d}\gamma + \mathcal{E}(\nu), & \text{if } \gamma \in \Pi(\mu, \nu), \\ +\infty & \text{if } \gamma \notin \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}), \end{cases}$$

with a general functional \mathcal{E} , so that

$$\Phi(x, y, \nu) = \frac{\delta \mathcal{J}}{\delta \gamma}(\gamma) \text{ for } \nu = (\pi_{\mathcal{Y}})_{\sharp} \gamma.$$

Our goal is to show that critical points of this energy are Cournot-Nash equilibria, notice however that satisfying the equilibrium condition (5) is independent of having a finite social cost (6), we can have bad equilibria that represents a society with infinite poverty, for instance if a non-negligible part of the population is infinitely poor. For this we make the following definition.

Definition 3.2. A measure $\rho \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ is a distribution of finite social cost for the distribution μ if there is a function $\kappa \in L^1(\mu)$ such that for μ -a.e. $x \in \mathcal{X}$ there is $y_x \in \mathcal{Y}$ satisfying

$$\Phi(x, y_x, \varrho) \le \kappa(x).$$

The main result of this section is the following.

Theorem 3.3. Assume that $0 \leq \mathcal{E}$ admits a first variation given by an l.s.c. function with compact sub-level sets over \mathcal{Y} and let Φ be as (22). It follows that

(i) $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium in the sense of Definition 1.1, if and only if it is a critical point of \mathcal{J} defined in (24). If in addition, $\nu = (\pi_{\mathcal{Y}})_{\sharp} \gamma$ is a distribution of finite social cost, then γ is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium of finite social cost. (ii) if \mathcal{J} admits a minimizer, then

$$\min_{\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J}(\gamma) = \min_{\nu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{W}_{c}(\mu, \nu) + \mathcal{E}(\nu),$$

and it is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium.

Proof. The proof is inspired by the arguments in [42, Thm. 4.5.1] for the case of an abstract Lagrangian Mean Field Game and [38, Appendix A].

First suppose that $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ is a critical point, and define the function

$$\phi(x) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \inf_{\mathcal{Y}} \Phi(x, \cdot, \nu).$$

It follows that ϕ is Borel measurable since it is lower semi-continuous as we prove next. Take $x_k \xrightarrow[k\to\infty]{} x$ such that $\liminf \phi(x_k)$ is finite, otherwise there is nothing to prove, and assume up to the extraction of a subsequence that the limit is a limit. Consider $y_k \in \operatorname{argmin} \Phi(x_k, \cdot, \nu)$ so that $\Phi(x_k, \cdot, \nu) \leq C$ is uniformly bounded. Therefore, as $c \geq 0$ it holds that

$$(y_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \left\{ \frac{\delta \mathcal{E}}{\delta \nu}(y) \le C \right\},$$

which is a compact set. Up to another extraction, we may assume that $y_k \to y$, so that the lower semi-continuity of Φ gives

$$\phi(x) \le \Phi(x, y, \nu) \le \liminf_{k \to \infty} \Phi(x_k, y_k, \nu) = \liminf_{k \to \infty} \phi(x_k).$$

To prove item (i), if suffices to show that the set

$$A = \{(x, y) \in \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} : \phi(x) < \Phi(x, y, \nu)\}$$

is γ -negligible. Suppose this is not the case, and our goal is to construct a Borel measurable selection of the argmin operator, that is a Borel function $T : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ such that

$$T(x) \in \operatorname*{argmin}_{\mathcal{Y}} \Phi(x, \cdot, \nu) \text{ for all } x \in X.$$

From [12, Thm. 1] it holds that if $E \subset \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}$ is a Borel set with the property that $E_x \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \{y \in \mathcal{Y} : (x, y) \in E\}$ is σ -compact for all $x \in \pi_{\mathcal{X}}(E)$, then there is a Borel measurable selection $T : \pi_{\mathcal{X}}(E) \to \pi_{\mathcal{Y}}(E)$. And from [12, Cor. 1], the measurable selection of the argmin operator can be obtained since A is a Borel set, as ϕ and Φ are Borel measurable, and the sub-level sets of the first variation of \mathcal{E} are compact, so that

$$\mathcal{Y} = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left\{ y : \frac{\delta \mathcal{E}}{\delta \nu}(y) \le n \right\}, \text{ is } \sigma\text{-compact.}$$

In the sequel, we use it to define a transportation plan given by

$$\bar{\gamma} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \gamma \, \sqcup \, (\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \setminus A) + (\pi_{\mathcal{X}}, T \circ \pi_{\mathcal{X}})_{\sharp} \gamma \, \llcorner \, A.$$

Recalling that Φ is precisely the first variation of \mathcal{J} evaluated at γ , we have

$$0 \leq \left\langle \frac{\delta \mathcal{J}}{\delta \gamma}(\gamma), \bar{\gamma} - \gamma \right\rangle = \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} \Phi(\bar{x}, \bar{y}, \nu) \mathrm{d}\bar{\gamma} - \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} \Phi(x, y, \nu) \mathrm{d}\gamma$$
$$= \int_{A} \underbrace{\left(\Phi(x, T(x), \nu) - \Phi(x, y, \nu) \right)}_{< 0} \mathrm{d}\gamma \leq 0.$$

This contradicts the fact that $\gamma(A) > 0$, and we conclude that γ is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium.

Conversely, suppose that γ is an equilibrium, from Def. (1.1) and it follows that

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}}\phi(x)\mathrm{d}\gamma = \int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}}\Phi(x,y,\nu)\mathrm{d}\gamma.$$

Hence, for any other admissible transportation plan $\bar{\gamma} \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, it holds that

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \Phi(x,y,\nu) \mathrm{d}\bar{\gamma} \ge \int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \phi(x) \mathrm{d}\bar{\gamma} = \int_{\mathcal{X}} \phi(x) \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \Phi(x,y,\nu) \mathrm{d}\gamma.$$

From the fact that $\Phi(x, y, \nu) = \frac{\delta \mathcal{J}}{\delta \gamma}(\gamma)$, we conclude that γ is a critical point of \mathcal{J} .

Given $\gamma \in \Pi(\mu, \nu)$ that is a critical point of \mathcal{J} , hence is also a Cournot-Nash equilibrium, suppose in addition that ν is a distribution of finite social cost. By definition, μ -a.e. we have that $\phi(x) \leq \kappa(x)$ so that

$$\int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} \Phi(x, y, \nu) \mathrm{d}\gamma = \int_{\mathcal{X}} \phi(x) \mathrm{d}\mu \le \int_{\mathcal{X}} \kappa(x) \mathrm{d}\mu < +\infty.$$

As any minimizer is a critical point, item (ii) follows.

In the previous Theorem, the condition that the infimum is finite is non-trivial and should be verified for each problem. Imposing further conditions on \mathcal{E} , such as strict convexity, this can be verified as done in [9]. For the rest of this work, and specially for the proof of convergence of Nash to Cournot-Nash equilibria, we shall concentrate on a case where \mathcal{E} is given as the sum of a linear and an interaction term, as in [9,44] and Mazanti et al. That is, when \mathcal{E} can be written as follows

(25)
$$\mathcal{E}(\nu) = \mathcal{L}(\nu) + \mathcal{H}(\nu, \nu), \text{ where } \mathcal{L}(\nu) = \int_{\mathcal{Y}} L d\nu \text{ and } \mathcal{H}(\nu, \nu) = \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H d\nu \otimes \nu$$

hence being the sum of an individual cost L and an interaction cost. In this case, the lifted energy from (24) becomes

(26)
$$\mathcal{J}(\gamma) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c \mathrm{d}\gamma + \mathcal{L}(\nu) + \mathcal{H}(\nu, \nu)$$

and game with a continuum of players that we are interested is described by the cost

(27)
$$\Phi: \begin{cases} \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \times \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y}) & \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\} \\ (x, y, \nu) & \mapsto c(x, y) + L(y) + 2\int_{\mathcal{Y}} H(y, y') d\nu(y') d\nu(y')$$

In addition, we recall that we assume hypothesis (H1)-(H5) from the introduction. In particular, assumption (H1) that μ does not contain atoms is not restrictive, as discussed in Remark 3.4 below.

Remark 3.4. If μ has atoms, we can work in the lifted space

$$\mathcal{X}' = [0,1] \times \mathcal{X} \text{ and } \mu' \in \Pi(\mathcal{L}^1 \sqcup [0,1], \mu),$$

that is a coupling between the Lebesgue measure on the interval [0, 1] and μ . On the other hand, there is a map $T' : \mathcal{X}' \to \mathcal{X}$ such that $T'_{\sharp}\mu' = \mu$, simply given by the projection $T' = \pi_{\mathcal{X}}$. Then we can formulate a new game with c replaced by $c'(x', y) = c(\pi_{\mathcal{X}}(x'), y)$, which remains l.s.c. in the product space $\mathcal{X}' \times \mathcal{Y}$. This new game will then satisfy all hypothesis (H1)-(H5).

As the integral of l.s.c. functionals, both \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{H} are l.s.c. as functionals over $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$, see for instance [43, Prop. 7.1]. Since the level sets of \mathcal{L} are compact, we would be able to prove existence of minimizers for \mathcal{J} , were it not for the term \mathcal{H} that can be $+\infty$, for instance if H diverges in the diagonal.

3.2. On the finiteness of the infimum. In the case of a potential of the form (27), we can characterize the cases where there the infimum is finite, and hence when we have existence, with a measure defined with the individual transportation cost c and the interaction energy H as follows: For $K \subset \mathcal{Y}$ compact, define

(28)
$$\operatorname{cap}_{c,H}(K) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \left(\inf_{\varrho \in \mathscr{P}_{c,\mu}(K)} \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}\varrho \otimes \varrho \right)^{-1}$$

where $\mathscr{P}_{c,\mu}(K) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \{ \varrho \in \mathscr{P}(K) : \mathcal{W}_c(\mu, \varrho) < +\infty \}$. The capacity of an open set $U \subset \mathcal{Y}$ can then be defined through outer regularity

$$\operatorname{cap}_{c,H}(U) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \sup \left\{ \operatorname{cap}_{c,H}(K) : K \subset U \right\},$$

and for a general set A as the inf of the same quantity among all the open sets U containing A. This defines a monotone set function that can be used to characterize when the infimum of \mathcal{J} is finite.

Lemma 3.5. Under hypotheses (H2)–(H5), it holds that

$$\inf \mathcal{J} < +\infty \iff \operatorname{cap}_{c,H}(\{L < +\infty\}) > 0.$$

Proof. Starting with the direct implication, suppose that there exists $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ such that $\mathcal{J}(\gamma) < +\infty$. In particular, letting ν denote the second marginal of γ , it follows that $\mathcal{W}_c(\mu, \nu) < +\infty$ and $\sup \nu \subset \{L < +\infty\}$. It then follows that

$$\operatorname{cap}_{c,H}(\{L < +\infty\}) \ge \mathcal{J}(\gamma)^{-1} > 0.$$

Conversely, if $\operatorname{cap}_{c,H}(\{L < +\infty\}) > 0$, there is some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\operatorname{cap}_{c,H}(\{L \le N\}) > 0.$$

Hence there is a measure ρ concentrated over the compact set $\{L \leq N\}$ such that $\mathcal{W}_c(\mu, \rho) < +\infty$ and $\mathcal{H}(\rho, \rho) < +\infty$. Taking γ as an optimal transportation plan between μ and ρ gives that $\mathcal{J}(\gamma) < +\infty$.

The previous Lemma seems almost tautological, but in some particular cases there are strong results in the literature that characterize exactly which are the sets with positive capacity. In examples 3.6 and 3.6 we treat two models whose particular properties allow to verify the capacity criterion from Lemma 3.5.

Example 3.6. In the Lagrangian mean field game of Mazanti et.al. the interaction term is shown to be bounded by the individual cost, that is, there is a constant C > 0 such that for all $\nu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ it holds that $\mathcal{H}(\nu, \nu) \leq C(1 + 2\mathcal{L}(\nu))$, which trivializes the capacity condition since \mathcal{L} is not identically $+\infty$.

Example 3.7. Consider now a simpler case where $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$c \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$$
, and $H(y, \bar{y}) = |y - \bar{y}|^{-\alpha}$ for some $0 < \alpha < d$.

The condition that c is bounded implies that the set $\mathscr{P}_{c,\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d) = \mathscr{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ since the optimal transportation problem $\mathcal{W}_c(\mu, \varrho)$ is finite for any probability measure ϱ . This way, the capacity condition becomes

$$\operatorname{cap}_{\alpha}(\{L < +\infty\}) > 0,$$

where cap_s denotes the usual capacity, with $H(y, \bar{y}) = |y - \bar{y}|^{-\alpha}$. In this case, Frostman's Lemma, see [24, Chap. 4.3] and [41, Appendix B] or the original thesis of Frostman [26], gives a characterization of sets with strictly positive α -capacity in \mathbb{R}^d . Indeed, for a general Borel set $A \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ it holds that

$$d_H(A) = \inf \{ s \ge 0 : \operatorname{cap}_s(A) = 0 \},\$$

where $d_H(A)$ denotes the Haussdorff dimension of the set A.

It follows that, in order to satisfy the capacity condition, it suffices to verify that the set $\{L < +\infty\}$ is of dimension bigger than α .

Remark 3.8. Example 3.7 above motivates the characterization of sets with strictly positive $\operatorname{cap}_{c,H}$ for more general choices of c and H. As mentioned above the first difficulty is to choose a class of pairs (c, H) that do not make the infimum in the capacity $+\infty$. We have trivialized this question by considering c bounded, but it excludes the examples of Lagrangian Mean Field Games where $c(x, \sigma) = +\infty$ if $\sigma(0) \neq x$.

3.3. Stability of the value function. In this paragraph our primary goal is to show, assuming some additional hypothesis (H6), the following estimate

(29)
$$\left|\inf_{\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_0}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J} - \inf_{\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_1}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J}\right| \le CW_1(\mu_0, \mu_1) \text{ for some } C > 0,$$

where $\mu_0, \mu_1 \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ are two distribution of agents and

$$W_1(\mu_0,\mu_1) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \min_{\gamma \in \Pi(\mu_0,\mu_1)} \int_{\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{X}} d_{\mathcal{X}}(x_0,x_1) \mathrm{d}\gamma,$$

is the 1-Wasserstein, or Kantorovitch-Rubinstein, distance, see [49].

The stability result (29) is of independent interest, in particular it gives some regularity for the value function in the Wasserstein topology and allows to estimate the value with arbitrary approximations of a given reference distribution μ , instead of for only empirical measures covered by our Γ -convergence results from Section 4. However, it is important to emphasize that, contrary to Γ -convergence, this result says nothing about the convergence of minimizers for the problems referent to a sequence μ_n converging to μ . Another potential application would be to the construction of ε -equilibria, which could be done with a suitable approximation of a given reference measure. However, this cannot be done for instance in an euclidean space with an empirical measure since we expect that

$$W_1(\mu_N,\mu) \approx N^{-1/a}$$

if $\mu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and μ_N is a suitable sequence of empirical measures. Recalling that the cost minimized by each player behaves as $N \times \mathcal{J}(\gamma_N)$, this estimate does not give information on weather the minimization of \mathcal{J} over $\mathscr{P}_{\mu_N}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ yield ε -Nash equilibria for the *N*-player game. But it might be useful in this direction with estimates of μ with better convergence rates.

To prove (29) we will exploit the *gluing method*, recently introduced in [38]. This method depends on the existence of a gluing operator as described in the following assumption:

(H6) There exists an operator $\mathcal{G}: \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{Y}$ such that:

- \mathcal{G} is consistent: for every $y \in \mathcal{Y}$ and $x \in \mathcal{X}$ it holds that $\mathcal{G}(x, x, y) = y$;
- there exists a positive constant C > 0 satisfying

$$c(x_1, \mathcal{G}(x_1, x_0, y)) \le c(x_0, y) + Cd_{\mathcal{X}}(x_1, x_0),$$

$$L\left(\mathcal{G}(x_1, x_0, y)\right) \le L(y) + Cd_{\mathcal{X}}(x_1, x_0),$$

$$H(\mathcal{G}(x_1, x_0, y), \mathcal{G}(\tilde{x}_1, \tilde{x}_0, \tilde{y})) \le H(y, \tilde{y}) + C\left(d_{\mathcal{X}}(x_1, x_0) + d_{\mathcal{X}}(\tilde{x}_1, \tilde{x}_0)\right)$$

for any pairs $x_0, x_1 \in \mathcal{X}$ and $y, \tilde{y} \in \mathcal{Y}$.

Essentially, hypothesis (H6) says that there is an operator that given some player of type x_0 choosing play y, any other player of type x_1 can choose a strategy $\mathcal{G}(x_1, x_0, y)$ paying a perturbation, of order $d_{\mathcal{X}}(x_0, x_1)$, of the cost paid by the first player. With this assumption we can prove that

Lemma 3.9 (Gluing method). Let μ_0, μ_1 be probability measures in $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ and $\gamma_0 \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_0}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$. Under the hypothesis (H6), there exists a measure $\gamma_1 \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_1}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ such that

$$\mathcal{J}(\gamma_1) \leq \mathcal{J}(\gamma_0) + 4CW_1(\mu_0, \mu_1),$$

(30)

where W_1 denotes the Kantorovitch-Rubinstein distance.

Proof. Given measures $\mu_0, \mu_1 \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$ and let $\pi_{1,0} \in \Pi(\mu_1, \mu_0)$ be an optimal transportation plan between μ_0 and μ_1 , *i.e.*

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}_1 \times \mathcal{X}_1} d_{\mathcal{X}}(x_1, x_0) \mathrm{d}\pi_{1,0}(x_1, x_0) = W_1(\mu_1, \mu_0)$$

where \mathcal{X}_0 and \mathcal{X}_1 are identical copies of the space \mathcal{X} .

Let $\Gamma \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X}_1 \times \mathcal{X}_0 \times \mathcal{Y})$ denote the gluing of $\pi_{1,0}$ and γ_0 , so that $(\pi_{\mathcal{X}_0,\mathcal{Y}})_{\sharp}\Gamma = \gamma_0$ and $(\pi_{\mathcal{X}_1,\mathcal{X}_0})_{\sharp}\Gamma = \pi_{1,0}$, see for instance Lemma 2.6 or Lemma 5.3.2 and Remark 5.3.3 of [3]. The measure γ_1 is then defined as $\gamma_1 := (\pi_{\mathcal{X}_1}, \mathcal{G})_{\sharp}\Gamma$. It follows from these definitions that

$$\mathcal{J}(\gamma_0) = \int_{\mathcal{X}_0 \times \mathcal{Y}} (c + L + H) \,\mathrm{d}\Gamma \otimes \Gamma$$
$$\mathcal{J}(\gamma_1) = \int_{\mathcal{X}_1 \times \mathcal{Y}} (c + L + H) \,\mathrm{d}\left((\pi_{\mathcal{X}_1}, \mathcal{G})_{\sharp}\Gamma\right) \otimes \left((\pi_{\mathcal{X}_1}, \mathcal{G})_{\sharp}\Gamma\right).$$

Using the definition of the gluing operator from (H6), we get the following estimates

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}(\gamma_1) &= \int_{\mathcal{X}_1 \times \mathcal{Y}} (c(x_1, \mathcal{G}(x_1, x_0, y)) + L(\mathcal{G}(x_1, x_0, y)) + \\ & H(\mathcal{G}(x_1, x_0, y), \mathcal{G}(\bar{x}_1, \bar{x}_0, \bar{y}))) \mathrm{d}\Gamma \otimes \Gamma \\ &\leq \int_{\mathcal{X}_0 \times \mathcal{Y}} (c + L + H) \, \mathrm{d}\Gamma \otimes \Gamma + C \int_{\mathcal{X}_1 \times \mathcal{X}_0 \times \mathcal{Y}} (3d_{\mathcal{X}}(x_1, x_0) + d_{\mathcal{X}}(\tilde{x}_1, \tilde{x}_0)) \mathrm{d}\Gamma \otimes \Gamma \\ &= \mathcal{J}(\gamma_0) + 4C \int_{\mathcal{X}_1 \times \mathcal{X}_0} d_{\mathcal{X}}(x_1, x_0) \mathrm{d}\pi_{1,0} \\ &= \mathcal{J}(\gamma_0) + 4CW_1(\mu_0, \mu_1). \end{aligned}$$

The result follows.

The previous Lemma 3.9 will also be useful in the proof of Γ convergence in the open closed loop formulation. For now, we use it to prove the following:

Theorem 3.10. Under the hypothesis (H6), the stability inequality (29) for the value function holds.

Proof. Let $\gamma_0 \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_0}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ optimal, so that

$$\mathcal{J}(\gamma_0) = \min_{\mathscr{P}_{\mu_0}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J}.$$

So let γ_1 be the measure obtained from the gluing method in Lemma 3.9. It then holds that

$$\inf_{\mathscr{P}_{\mu_1}(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J} - \inf_{\mathscr{P}_{\mu_0}(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J} \leq \mathcal{J}(\gamma_1) - \mathcal{J}(\gamma_0) \leq 4CW_1(\mu_0,\mu_1),$$

where C is the constant from (H6). Changing the roles of μ_0 and μ_1 , we conclude.

Example 3.11 (Back to example 3.6). Let us now give further details for the Lagrangian MFG discussed in example 3.6. We consider a model where a population of agents tries to read a target set in minimal time under pair-wise interactions.

For simplicity, let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be a convex set, and let $\Gamma \subset \Omega$ be the target set of the players. In this case $\mathcal{X} = \Omega$ and $\mathcal{Y} = C(\mathbb{R}_+; \Omega)$, the continuous functions with values in Ω . For $\sigma \in \mathcal{Y}$ we set

$$\tau(\sigma) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \inf\{t \ge 0 : \sigma(t) \in \Gamma\},\$$

the minimal time to reach the target and

$$c(x_0, \sigma) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } \sigma(0) = x_0, \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The individual and interaction energies are given by

$$L(\sigma) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_0^{\tau(\sigma)} \ell(t, \sigma(t), \dot{\sigma}(t)) dt + \Psi(\sigma_\tau),$$
$$H(\sigma, \bar{\sigma}) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_0^{\tau(\sigma) \wedge \tau(\bar{\sigma})} h(t, \sigma(t), \dot{\sigma}(t), \bar{\sigma}(t), \dot{\bar{\sigma}}(t)) dt.$$

For simplicity, we assume that ℓ and h are bounded non-negative functions, that σ remains constant after reaching Γ for the first time and that if $\dot{\sigma}(t) = 0$, then $\ell(t, \sigma(t), \dot{\sigma}(t)) = h(t, \sigma(t), \dot{\sigma}(t), \dot{\sigma}(t)) = 0$.

In order to have a small perturbation of the energies, the easiest way is to preserve the stopping time, hence given σ such that $\sigma(0) = x_0$ we search for a curve of the form

$$\sigma_{x_1}(t) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \begin{cases} \left(1 - \frac{t}{t_0}\right) x_1 + \frac{t}{t_0} \sigma(t_0), & \text{if } t \in [0, t_0], \\ \sigma(t), & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Therefore, choosing $t_0 \leq \min\{\tau_{\sigma}, |x_0 - x_1|\}$ we obtain that

$$L(\sigma_{x_1}(t)) \le L(\sigma) + \int_0^{t_0} \ell(t, \sigma_{x_1}(t), \dot{\sigma}_{x_1}(t)) dt \le L(\sigma) + C|x_0 - x_1|.$$

An analogous reasoning for H gives the required result.

4. Convergence of Nash to Cournot-Nash

In this section we prove our convergence results of Nash to Cournot-Nash equilibria. For readability, we perform the analysis in the two cases separately, even if at the cost of some repetition. This way both results can be read independently. We start by recalling the definitions of each formulation described in the introduction and discuss then in more details as well.

First let us recall the definition of Nash-equilibria and introduce some notation.

Definition 4.1 (Nash equilibrium in *N*-player game). An *N*-player game in pure strategies is a tuple $(g_i, S_i)_{i=1}^N$ where S_i denotes the space of admissible plays for player *i* and g_i is a function

$$g_i: S_i \times S_{-i} \ni (x_i, x_{-i}) \mapsto g_i(x_i, x_{-i}) \in \mathbb{R} \text{ where } S_{-i} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \prod_{j \neq i} S_j$$

Given an admissible profile of strategies $(x_j)_{j=1}^N$, x_{-i} corresponds to the tuple of strategies deprived of x_i and the quantity $g_i(x_i, x_{-i})$ represents the cost of player *i* choosing x_i given that the remaining players choose x_{-i} .

A game in mixed strategies, or mixed plays, is a tuple $(g_i, \mathscr{P}(S_i))_{i=1}^N$, such that

$$g_i(\nu_i,\nu_{-i}) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{S_i \times S_{-i}} g_i(x_i,x_{-i}) \mathrm{d}\nu_i \otimes \nu_{-i}(x_i,x_{-i}),$$

where $\nu_{-i} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \nu_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \nu_{i-1} \otimes \nu_{i+1} \otimes \nu_N$.

Let us also recall the setting of our games. Given an i.i.d. sample of agents $(X_i)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ with common law $\mu \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X})$, where the first N elements represent the type of the agents in our N-player game. Consider the probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ induced by the sample $(X_i)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$, so that $\Omega = \mathcal{X}^{\otimes\mathbb{N}}$ represents all the possible realizations of this sampling, \mathcal{F} is the σ -algebra generated by the random variables X_i and, $\mathbb{P} = \mu^{\otimes\mathbb{N}}$.

4.1. Convergence in the open loop formulation.

4.1.1. Potential struction in open loop. In the open loop formulation, as each player chooses a strategy before having the knowledge of the realization of the sample, the type of player *i* is better described by the random variable X_i and an admissible strategy must be given by a measurable family $(\nu^x)_{x \in \mathcal{X}} \subset \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$, being uniquely described with a random probability measure, see Section 2.2 or [19,32]. In other words, instead of choosing a deterministic strategy, given a state x a player chooses a distribution of strategies ν^x . The criterion that each player seeks to minimize is then

(31)
$$\min_{\boldsymbol{\nu}_{i}\in\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{Y})}\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,i}\left(\boldsymbol{\nu}_{i},\boldsymbol{\nu}_{-i}\right) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}\left[\int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(X_{i},y) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{i}^{X_{i}} + \mathcal{L}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_{i}^{X_{i}}) + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{i\neq j} \mathcal{H}\left(\boldsymbol{\nu}_{i}^{X_{i}},\boldsymbol{\nu}_{j}^{X_{j}}\right)\right],$$

where $\boldsymbol{\nu}_i = \nu_i^{X_i}$ for some measurable map $(\nu_i^x)_{x \in \mathcal{X}}$.

A profile $(\boldsymbol{\nu}_i)_{i=1}^N$ is pure if each $\boldsymbol{\nu}_i$ is a Dirac delta with full probability and can then be described with a map as measures of the form $\boldsymbol{\nu}_i = \delta_{T_i(X_i)}$. The formulation in pure strategies can then be expressed as

(32)
$$\min_{T_i} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,i}(T_i, T_{-i}) = \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}} \left[c(X_i, T_i(X_i)) + L(T_i(X_i)) + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{i \neq j} \mathcal{H}(T_i(X_i), T_j(X_j)) \right].$$

As introduced in Section 2.2, we let $\boldsymbol{\mu}_N \in \mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$ be the random measure obtained via the sample of random variables $\boldsymbol{\mu}_N \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{X_i}$, and we define the space of random transportation plans

$$\mathscr{P}_{\Omega,\boldsymbol{\mu}_N}(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \left\{ \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N = \boldsymbol{\mu}_N \otimes \nu^x = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{X_i} \otimes \nu^{X_i} : \ (\nu^x)_{x \in \mathcal{X}} \text{ is measurable} \right\}.$$

where we recall the definition of measurable family of measures from Def. 2.4. The potential function in open loop formulation is defined as the average of the costs of each player, assuming the form

(33)
$$\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N}) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \begin{cases} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}} \left[\int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N} + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathcal{L} \left(\boldsymbol{\nu}^{X_{i}} \right) \\ + \frac{1}{N^{2}} \sum_{i \neq j} \mathcal{H} \left(\boldsymbol{\nu}^{X_{i}}, \boldsymbol{\nu}^{X_{j}} \right) \right], & \text{if } \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N} \in \mathscr{P}_{\Omega,\mu_{N}}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}), \\ + \infty, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Observe that, by means of the disintegration Theorem (2.5) there is a canonical bijection between the set of random measures $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega,\mu}(\mathcal{X})$ and the set of symmetric strategy profiles, obtained through the disintegration theorem, so that this lifted energy is a suitable candidate to describe minimizers.

In addition, since c, L and H are l.s.c. and L has compact level sets, the potential function 33 admits minimizers, which we shall prove to yield Nash equilibria for the corresponding game.

Proposition 4.2. Let

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{X_i} \otimes \nu_i^{X_i} \in \operatorname{argmin} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}$$

then $\left(\nu_i^{X_i}\right)_{i=1}^N$ induce Nash equilibria for the game (31).

Proof. Let $\nu_i = \nu_i^{X_i}$ and consider a deviation, so that player *i* chooses $\bar{\nu}_i$ instead. Consider the new random transportation plan

$$ar{oldsymbol{\gamma}}_N \stackrel{ ext{def.}}{=} rac{1}{N} \sum_{j
eq i} \delta_{X_j} \otimes oldsymbol{
u}_j + rac{1}{N} \delta_{X_i} \otimes oldsymbol{
u}_i.$$

First notice that from the symmetry of H we have

$$\sum_{j \neq k} H(y_j, y_k) = \sum_{\substack{j \neq k, j \neq i, k \neq i}} H(y_j, y_k) + \sum_{k \neq i} H(y_i, y_k) + \sum_{j \neq i} H(y_j, y_i)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{j \neq k, j \neq i, k \neq i}} H(y_j, y_k) + 2\sum_{j \neq i} H(y_j, y_i),$$

so the minimality of γ_N gives

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N) &= \frac{1}{N} \left(\mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{j \neq i} \int_{\mathcal{Y}} [c(x_j, y_j) + L(y_j)] \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_j + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j \neq k, j, k \neq i} \mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_j, \boldsymbol{\nu}_k) \right] + \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,i}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_i, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{-i}) \right) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{N} \left(\mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{j \neq i} \int_{\mathcal{Y}} [c(x_j, y_j) + L(y_j)] \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_j + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j \neq k, j, k \neq i} \mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_j, \boldsymbol{\nu}_k) \right] + \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,i}(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nu}}_i, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{-i}) \right) \\ &= \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}(\bar{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}_N). \end{aligned}$$

Canceling out the repeated terms we obtain that $\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,i}(\boldsymbol{\nu}_i, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{-i}) \leq \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,i}(\bar{\boldsymbol{\nu}}_i, \boldsymbol{\nu}_{-i})$, meaning that the profile $(\boldsymbol{\nu}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{\nu}_N)$ is a Nash equilibria. \Box

4.1.2. Γ -convergence for the open loop formulation. The Γ convergence result relies on the characterization of the cluster points of random measures in the set $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega,\mu_N}(\mathcal{X})$. Indeed, since the stochasticity of this class of measures is contained in the first marginal given by the empirical measure of an i.i.d. sample, we can expect that the limit will be a non-random measure. This is proved in the following

Lemma 4.3. Let μ_N be a sequence of empirical measures of an *i.i.d.* sample of law μ . Let γ_N be a sequence of random measures such that $\gamma_N \in \mathscr{P}_{\Omega,\mu_N}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and converging in the narrow convergence of probability measures to a random measure γ . Then γ is a deterministic measure in the sense that there is $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ such that $\gamma(\omega) = \gamma$ almost surely.

Remark 4.4. The major difficulty of the following proof comes from the fact that the conditional expectation is not continuous w.r.t. weak convergence in general. In order words, if a sequence of measures $(\gamma_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ converging weakly to γ has the following disintegration representation $\gamma_N = \mu \otimes \nu_N^x$ and $\gamma = \mu \otimes \nu^x$, it does not hold in general that $\nu_N^x \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \nu^x$, not even for a.e. x.

Proof. If γ_N converges weakly to γ it is a priori just a random probability measure in $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$. Hence, we first need to show that $\gamma(\omega) \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ with probability 1. For any $f \in C_b(\mathcal{X})$, we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}} f(x) \mathrm{d}(\pi_{\mathcal{X}})_{\sharp} \boldsymbol{\gamma}(\omega) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \int_{\mathcal{X}} f \circ \pi_{\mathcal{X}} \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N(\omega) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \int_{\mathcal{X}} f \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\mu}_N(\omega) = \int_{\mathcal{X}} f \mathrm{d} \mu,$$

where the last limit is true almost surely from the Glivenko-Cantelli law of large numbers. As a consequence, by disintegration we have the following representation

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N = \boldsymbol{\mu}_N \otimes \nu_N^x, \quad \boldsymbol{\gamma} = \mu \otimes \boldsymbol{\nu}^x,$$

where $(\nu_N^x)_{x \in \mathcal{X}} \subset \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ is a sequence of measurable maps of deterministic measures and $(\boldsymbol{\nu}^y)_{y \in Y}$ is a family of random measures in $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(X)$. Notice that while the stochasticity of $\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N$ is concentrated in the \mathcal{X} -marginal, we cannot say for now that the same is true for

 γ and our goal is precisely to show that the disintegration family $(\nu^x)_{x \in \mathcal{X}}$ is a family of non-random probability measures.

Recall the definition of expectation measure in (20), for any $\varphi \in C_b(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \varphi d\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \varphi d\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N\right] \xrightarrow[N\to\infty]{} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \varphi d\boldsymbol{\gamma}\right] = \int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \varphi d\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\gamma},$$

so that $\mathbb{E}\gamma_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \mathbb{E}\gamma$. In the sequel, we check that $\mathbb{E}\gamma_N = \mu \otimes \nu_N^x$. Indeed, still using duality, for $\varphi \in C_b(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ we have that

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}}\varphi \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N = \frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{Y}}\varphi(X_i, y)\mathrm{d}\nu_N^{X_i}\right] = \int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}}\varphi \mathrm{d}(\mu \otimes \nu_N^x).$$

To finish the proof it suffices to show that for any real valued, bounded and $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ adapted random variable Θ and $\varphi \in C_b(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, it holds that

(34)
$$\Delta_{N,\Theta} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \left| \mathbb{E} \left[\Theta \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} \varphi \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[\Theta \right] \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} \varphi \mathrm{d} \mathbb{E} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N \right| \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} 0,$$

since then we will have that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Theta\left(\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}}\varphi d(\boldsymbol{\gamma}-\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\gamma})\right)\right]=0$$

for any bounded random variable Θ , meaning that $\gamma = \mathbb{E}\gamma$ almost surely.

For this, we will use *Hoeffding's inequality*, which states that if Z_1, \ldots, Z_N are i.i.d. real variables such that $a \leq Z_i \leq b$ for all *i* almost surely, then

(35)
$$\mathbb{P}\left(\left|\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}Z_{i}-\mathbb{E}[Z_{1}]\right|\geq\varepsilon\right)\leq2\exp\left(-\frac{2N\varepsilon^{2}}{(b-a)^{2}}\right).$$

Notice that we can rewrite

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \varphi \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \tilde{\varphi}_{i,N} \text{ where } \tilde{\varphi}_{i,N} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{Y}} \varphi(X_i, y) \mathrm{d}\nu_N^{X_i},$$

so that $(\tilde{\varphi}_{i,N})_{i=1}^N$ are i.i.d., $|\tilde{\varphi}_{i,N}| \leq ||\varphi||_{L^{\infty}}$ and

$$\mathbb{E}\tilde{\varphi}_{1,N} = \int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \varphi \mathrm{d}\mu \otimes \nu_N^x = \int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} \varphi \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N$$

So setting

$$A_{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \left\{ \left| \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \tilde{\varphi}_{i,N} - \mathbb{E} \tilde{\varphi}_{1,N} \right| \ge \varepsilon \right\},\$$

we can use Hoeffding's inequality to bound the LHS of (34)

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{N,\Theta} &\leq \mathbb{E}\left[|\Theta| \left| \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \tilde{\varphi}_{i,N} - \mathbb{E} \tilde{\varphi}_{1,N} \right| \right] \\ &\leq \|\Theta\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_{A_{\varepsilon}} \left| \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \tilde{\varphi}_{i,N} - \mathbb{E} \tilde{\varphi}_{1,N} \right| d\mathbb{P} + \|\Theta\|_{L^{\infty}} \varepsilon \\ &\leq 2 \|\Theta\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \mathbb{P}(A_{\varepsilon}) + \|\Theta\|_{L^{\infty}} \varepsilon \\ &\leq 4 \|\Theta\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}} \exp\left(-\frac{N\varepsilon^{2}}{2 \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}}\right) + \|\Theta\|_{L^{\infty}} \varepsilon \end{split}$$

Choosing $\varepsilon = N^{-1/3}$, we get that $\Delta_{N,\Theta} \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} 0$. We conclude that $\gamma = \mathbb{E}\gamma$.

Remark 4.5. In fact we have shown that γ_N has a subsequence converging to γ in the much stronger topology of narrow converge \mathbb{P} almost surely.

22

The previous Lemma is the crucial observation that allows the passage of the limit of a sequence of stochastic variational problems to a deterministic one as we shall see in the following Γ -convergence result.

Theorem 4.6. Given an i.i.d. sample $(X_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ with law μ , let $\mu_N \in \mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X})$ the associated sequence of empirical random measures. Let $\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}$ be the sequence of potential functionals defined in (33), then it holds that

$$\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N} \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{\Gamma} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \begin{cases} \mathcal{J}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}), & \text{if } \boldsymbol{\gamma} = \boldsymbol{\gamma} \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}), \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where the Γ -convergence is in $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ equipped with the narrow topology of random probability measures.

Proof. Starting with Γ -lim inf, consider a sequence $(\gamma_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ converging to γ in the narrow topology of random measures. From Lemma 4.3, it follows that γ is actually a non-random measure $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$. Without loss of generality we assume that

$$\liminf_{N} \inf_{\boldsymbol{i} \to \infty} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N) < \infty$$

otherwise there is nothing to prove. Then, up to taking a subsequence attaining the lim inf, one can assume that $\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N) \leq C$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$, so in particular $\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N \in \mathscr{P}_{\Omega,\mu_N}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$. For an arbitrary $M \geq 0$, define the truncated interaction energy as

For an arbitrary M > 0, define the truncated interaction energy as

$$\mathcal{H}^{M}(\nu,\nu) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int H^{M} \mathrm{d}\nu \otimes \nu, \text{ where } H^{M} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} H \wedge M$$

and the truncated total energies \mathcal{J}^M and $\mathcal{J}^M_{\Omega,N}$ as in (26) and (33) by replacing \mathcal{H} with \mathcal{H}^M . Then it follows from Fubini's Theorem that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}^{M}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N}) &= \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\int_{\mathcal{Y}}c(X_{i},y) + L(y)\mathrm{d}\nu_{N}^{X_{i}} + \frac{1}{N^{2}}\sum_{i\neq j}\int_{\mathcal{Y}\times\mathcal{Y}}\mathcal{H}^{M}(\nu_{N}^{X_{i}},\nu_{N}^{X_{j}})\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}}c + L\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N} + \int_{\mathcal{Y}\times\mathcal{Y}}H^{M}\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N}\otimes\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N}\right] - \frac{1}{N^{2}}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\mathbb{E}\left[\mathcal{H}^{M}\left(\nu_{N}^{X_{i}},\nu_{N}^{X_{j}}\right)\right] \\ &= \mathcal{J}^{M}\left(\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N}\right) - \frac{1}{N^{2}}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\underbrace{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathcal{H}^{M}(\nu_{N}^{X_{i}},\nu_{N}^{X_{i}})\right]}_{\leq M} \geq \mathcal{J}^{M}\left(\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N}\right) - \frac{M}{N}, \end{split}$$

where the last inequality was obtained from the fact that \mathcal{H}^M is bounded by M. For any fixed M > 0, the sum on the right-hand side above vanishes as $N \to \infty$ and hence since $\mathbb{E}\gamma_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \gamma$, the lower semi-continuity of \mathcal{J} gives that

$$\liminf_{N\to\infty} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N) \geq \liminf_{N\to\infty} \mathcal{J}^M(\mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N) \geq \mathcal{J}^M(\boldsymbol{\gamma}).$$

Noticing that from the monotone convergence theorem $\mathcal{H}(\nu,\nu) = \sup_{M>0} \mathcal{H}^M(\nu,\nu)$, we get

$$\liminf_{N \to \infty} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N) \ge \sup_{M > 0} \mathcal{J}^M(\gamma) = \mathcal{J}(\gamma),$$

and the result follows.

To prove the Γ -limsup it suffices to construct recovery sequences only for non-random transportation plans $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$. For any such measure, consider its disintegration representation as $\gamma = \mu \otimes \nu^x$, and define a recovery sequence as

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N \stackrel{ ext{def.}}{=} \boldsymbol{\mu}_N \otimes \nu^x$$

where $(\boldsymbol{\mu}_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ is the family of empirical random measures built from the i.i.d. sample $(X_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ of law μ . Let us show that $\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \gamma$. We know from Lemma 4.3 that for any

cluster point $\tilde{\gamma}$ of γ_N it holds that $\tilde{\gamma}$ is a deterministic measure, so for any convergent subsequence we have

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N_k} \xrightarrow[k \to \infty]{} \tilde{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \mathbb{E} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N = \boldsymbol{\gamma},$$

so that the whole sequence must converge to γ .

Next, for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$, a simple computation yields

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}_N) = & \mathbb{E} \left[\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \left(\int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(X_i, y) \mathrm{d}\nu^{X_i}(y) + \int_{\mathcal{Y}} L(y) \mathrm{d}\nu^{X_i}(y) \right) + \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{i \neq j} \int H \mathrm{d}\nu^{X_i} \otimes \nu^{X_j} \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \int_{\mathcal{X}} \left(\int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(x_i, y) \mathrm{d}\nu^{x_i}(y) + \int_{\mathcal{Y}} L(y) \mathrm{d}\nu^{x_i}(y) \right) \mathrm{d}\mu(x_i) \\ &+ \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{i \neq j} \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{X}} \left(\int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}\nu^{x_i} \otimes \nu^{x_j} \right) \mathrm{d}\mu \otimes \mu(x_i, x_j) \\ &= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} (c+L) \mathrm{d}\gamma + \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{i \neq j} \int H \mathrm{d}\nu \otimes \nu \\ &= \mathcal{J}(\gamma) - \frac{1}{N} \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}\nu \otimes \nu \leq \mathcal{J}(\gamma). \end{split}$$

Taking the lim sup as $N \to \infty$, the result follows.

Now we use the properties of Γ convergence along with Prokhorov's compactness Theorem for random measures to show that cluster points of equilibria for the *N*-player game are Cournot-Nash equilibria in the sense of Definition 1.1.

Theorem 4.7. Assume that $\inf_{\mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J} < \infty$, then if $(\gamma_N)_{N\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of minimizers of $\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}$, then there exists a subsequence such that

$$\gamma_{N_k} \xrightarrow[N_k \to \infty]{} \gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}),$$

in the narrow topology of $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, and in addition γ is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium in the sense of Definition 1.1.

Assuming in addition that $H \in C_b(\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y})$, for any sequence of Nash equilibria $(\gamma_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ from game (31), that is

(36)
$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \delta_{X_{i}} \otimes \boldsymbol{\nu}_{i,N}^{x} \in \mathscr{P}_{\Omega,\boldsymbol{\mu}_{N}}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}),$$

converging to γ in the narrow topology of $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, it holds that $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, and it is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium in the sense of Definition 1.1.

Proof. To prove the first assertion, we know from the properties of Γ -convergence that

(37)
$$\inf_{\mathscr{P}_{\Omega,\mu_N}(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N} \xrightarrow[N\to\infty]{} \inf_{\mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} C < +\infty.$$

Hence, since the functionals $\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,N}$ are l.s.c. with compact level sets, for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$ it admits a minimize γ_N . So if this sequence has a cluster point, then it must also minimize \mathcal{J} , from Theorem 4.6. Hence, to finish the proof, it suffices to obtain such cluster point. This will be done with the version of Prokhorov's Theorem for random measures, see Theorem 2.9, which states that a sequence of random measures is sequentially compact in the narrow topology if and only if it is tight.

As $\mu_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \mu$ in the narrow topology of random measures it is a tight family, from the Prokhorov's Theorem, so for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a compact set $K_{\mathcal{X},\varepsilon} \subset \mathcal{X}$ such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\boldsymbol{\mu}_N(\mathcal{X}\setminus K_{\mathcal{X},\varepsilon})\right] < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}.$$

From (37) we get that, for N large enough,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{Y}} L \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_N\right] \leq 2C,$$

so that, for some $\varepsilon > 0$ we obtain from Markov's inequality that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\boldsymbol{\nu}_{N}\left(\left\{L \leq \frac{4C}{\varepsilon}\right\}\right)\right] \leq \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{Y}} L \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\nu}_{N}\right]}{2C/\varepsilon} \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2}.$$

Since L has compact level sets, we set $K_{\mathcal{Y},\varepsilon} = \{L \leq 4C/\varepsilon\}$ and set $K_{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} K_{\mathcal{X},\varepsilon} \times K_{\mathcal{Y},\varepsilon}$, so that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N}\left(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{X}}\times\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}}\setminus K_{\varepsilon}\right)\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N}\left(\left(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{X}}\setminus K_{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{X}},\varepsilon}\right)\times\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}}\right)\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N}\left(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{X}}\times\left(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}}\setminus K_{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}},\varepsilon}\right)\right)\right] \\ = \mathbb{E}\left[\boldsymbol{\mu}_{N}\left(\left(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{X}}\setminus K_{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{X}},\varepsilon}\right)\times\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}}\right)\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\boldsymbol{\nu}_{N}\left(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{X}}\times\left(\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}}\setminus K_{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{Y}},\varepsilon}\right)\right)\right] < \varepsilon.$$

We conclude that the sequence of random measures γ_N is tight, and hence admits a convergent subsequence in the narrow topology of $\mathscr{P}_{\Omega}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$. As discussed above, from Lemma 4.3 the limit of this subsequence belongs in $\mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ and minimizes \mathcal{J} . From the variational characterization of equilibria given in Theorem 3.3, γ is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium in the sense of Definition 1.1.

To prove the second assertion, let γ_N be defined as in (47) and γ a limit point. From Lemma 4.3, $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, our goal is to verify that γ is a critical point of \mathcal{J} , *i.e.* for any $\bar{\gamma} \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ we verify that

$$\left\langle \frac{\delta \mathcal{J}}{\delta \gamma}, \bar{\gamma} - \gamma \right\rangle = \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} \left(c(x, y) + L(y) + 2 \int_{\mathcal{Y}} H(y, \bar{y}) \mathrm{d}\nu(\bar{y}) \right) \mathrm{d}(\bar{\gamma} - \gamma)(x, y) \ge 0,$$

where $\nu = (\pi_{\mathcal{Y}})_{\sharp}\gamma$. From Thm. 3.3, this will show that γ is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium.

Fix some $\bar{\gamma} \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, and recall the recovery sequence obtained from the Γ convergence proof; consider a disintegration family $\bar{\gamma} = \mu \otimes \bar{\nu}^x$ so that

$$\bar{\gamma}_N \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \bar{\nu}^{X_i} \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \gamma.$$

We consider a unilateral deviation of player *i* with the alternative strategy $\bar{\nu}^{X_i}$, to the profile $\left(\nu_{1,N}^{X_1}, \ldots, \nu_{N,N}^{X_N}\right)$. Since the latter is a Nash equilibrium in mixed strategies, we get that $\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,i}(\bar{\nu}^{X_i}, \nu_{-i,N}^{X_{-i}}) \geq \mathcal{J}_{\Omega,i}(\nu_{i,N}^{X_i}, \nu_{-i,N}^{X_{-i}})$, for $\mathcal{J}_{\Omega,i}$ defined in (31). This can be rewritten as

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(X_{i}, y) + L(y) \mathrm{d}\bar{\nu}^{X_{i}} + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{j \neq i} \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}\bar{\nu}^{X_{i}} \otimes \nu_{j,N}^{X_{j}}\right]$$
$$\geq \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(X_{i}, y) + L(y) \mathrm{d}\nu_{i,N}^{X_{i}} + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{j \neq i} \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}\nu_{i,N}^{X_{i}} \otimes \nu_{j,N}^{X_{j}}\right].$$

Let us define the measures

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N,-i} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} rac{1}{N} \sum_{j \neq i} \delta_{X_j} \otimes \boldsymbol{\nu}_{j,N}^{X_j}, ext{ and } \boldsymbol{\nu}_{N,-i} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} (\pi_{\mathcal{Y}})_{\sharp} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N,-i},$$

so that evaluating the expectations, using the definition of the expectation measure we obtain

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} (c+L) \mathrm{d}\bar{\gamma} + 2\int H \mathrm{d}\bar{\gamma} \otimes \mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N,-i} \geq \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(X_i, y) + L(y) \mathrm{d}\nu_{i,N}^{X_i}\right] + 2\int H \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}[\nu_{i,N}^{X_i}] \otimes \mathbb{E}\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N,-i}.$$

 \mathbf{v}

Rewriting
$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}_{N,-i} = \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N - \frac{1}{N} \delta_{X_i} \otimes \boldsymbol{\nu}_{i,N}^{A_i}$$
 and averaging over all i , we get that

$$\int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} (c+L) \mathrm{d}\bar{\gamma} + 2\left(1 - \frac{1}{N}\right) \int H \mathrm{d}\bar{\gamma} \otimes \mathbb{E} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N$$

$$\geq \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} (c+L) \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N + 2 \int H \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N \otimes \mathbb{E} \boldsymbol{\gamma}_N - \frac{2}{N^2} \sum_{i=1}^N \int H \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{i,N}^{X_i} \otimes \mathbb{E} \boldsymbol{\nu}_{i,N}^{X_i}$$

As $H \in C_b$, the last term is a O(1/N) and hence vanishes as $N \to \infty$. In addition, since $\mathbb{E}\gamma_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \gamma$, from the convergence of γ_N and Lemma 4.3, we get that

$$0 \ge \liminf_{N \to \infty} \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c + L \mathrm{d}(\mathbb{E}\gamma_N - \bar{\gamma}) + \frac{2(N-1)}{N} \int H \mathrm{d}\mathbb{E}\gamma_N \otimes (\mathbb{E}\gamma_N - \bar{\gamma})$$
$$\ge \liminf_{N \to \infty} \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c + L \mathrm{d}(\gamma - \bar{\gamma}) + 2 \int H \mathrm{d}\gamma \otimes (\gamma - \bar{\gamma}) = \left\langle \frac{\delta \mathcal{J}}{\delta \gamma}, \gamma - \bar{\gamma} \right\rangle.$$

From Thm. 3.3, γ is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium.

4.2. Convergence in the closed loop formulation.

4.2.1. Potential structure for closed loop formulation. We recall that the closed loop formulation described in the introduction can be described as follows: Given an event $\omega = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$, each player seeks to

(38)
$$\begin{array}{l} \underset{\nu_i \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})}{\text{minimize } J_{\omega,i}(\nu_i, \nu_{-i})} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(x_i, y) \mathrm{d}\nu_i + \int_{\mathcal{Y}} L \mathrm{d}\nu_i + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{j \neq i} \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}\nu_i \otimes \nu_j \\ \\ = \int_{\mathcal{Y}} c(x_i, y) \mathrm{d}\nu_i + \mathcal{L}(\nu_i) + \frac{2}{N} \sum_{j \neq i} \mathcal{H}(\nu_i, \nu_j). \end{array}$$

Notice that we have written the relaxed formulation in mixed strategies and a profile in pure strategies is just a tuple $(\nu_i)_{i=1}^N$ such that $\nu_i = \delta_{y_i}$ for all players. Under assumption (H1), that μ has no atoms, with full \mathbb{P} -probability, the event $\omega =$

Under assumption (H1), that μ has no atoms, with full \mathbb{P} -probability, the event $\omega = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ has distinct realizations, *i.e.* $x_i \neq x_j$ for all $i \neq j$. For every such event, there is a bijection between the strategy profiles $(\nu_i)_{i=1}^N$ and the measures $\gamma_N \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_N(\omega)}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ by means of the disintegration theorem, which guarantees that each such measure is uniquely written as

(39)
$$\gamma_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i} \otimes \nu^{x_i}$$

This representation can be seen as a lift of a profile of strategies $(\nu_i = \nu^{x_i})_{i=1}^N$ to the space of plans $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$. We can define a potential function in the lifted space as

(40)
$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}(\gamma_N) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \begin{cases} \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c \mathrm{d}\gamma_N + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathcal{L}(\nu^{x_i}) \\ + \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{j \neq i} \mathcal{H}(\nu^{x_i}, \nu^{x_j}), \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \text{ if } \gamma_N \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_N(\omega)}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}),$$

where $(\nu^{x_i})_{i=1}^N$ denotes the unique profile obtained though the representation (39).

The formulation in pure strategies can then be obtained by considering the following potential functional

(41)
$$J_{\omega,N}(y_1,\ldots,y_N) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}\left(\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{(x_i,y_i)}\right).$$

This is equivalent to restricting $\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}$ to the set

$$\mathscr{P}_{\mu_N}^{\text{pure}}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \left\{ \gamma_N \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_N}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}) : \ \gamma_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{(x_i, y_i)} \right\}.$$

Remark 4.8. Assumption (H1), that μ is atomless, is particularly relevant here in order to make the disintegration representation uniquely well-defined with full probability. As showed in Remark 3.4, this is not restrictive since we can replace the space \mathcal{X} with $\mathcal{X}' = [0,1] \times \mathcal{X}$. In the context of the sampling, we would obtain an *i.i.d.* sequence $(X'_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}} = (T_i, X_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ with common law given by $\mu' = \mathcal{L}^1 \sqcup [0,1] \times \mu$, which has no atoms since the Lebesgue measure is non-atomic. Therefore, any event $\omega' = ((T_i, X_i) = (t_i, x_i))_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ is such that $(t_i, x_i) \neq (t_j, x_j)$ with full probability.

As in the open loop case, the above potential functional admits minimizers since c, L and H are l.s.c. and L has compact level sets. We shall prove that minimizers for each potential functional yield Nash equilibria for the corresponding game and, in the case that H vanishes in the diagonal and is strictly positive elsewhere, we can prove that any minimizer induces a Nash equilibrium in pure strategies.

Proposition 4.9. The following assertions hold:

(i) It is equivalent to minimize $J_{\omega,N}$ and $\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}$, minimizers of the latter are supported on the set of minimizers of the former and it holds that

(42)
$$\min_{\mathcal{Y}^N} J_{\omega,N} = \min_{\mathscr{P}_{\mu_N}^{pure}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J}_{\omega,N} = \min_{\mathscr{P}_{\mu_N}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}$$

(ii) Let

$$(y_i)_{i=1}^N \in \operatorname{argmin} J_{\omega,N}, \quad \gamma_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i} \otimes \nu_{\omega,i} \in \operatorname{argmin} \mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}$$

then $(y_i)_{i=1}^N$ and $(\nu_{\omega,i})_{i=1}^N$ induce Nash equilibria for the game (38).

(iii) Suppose that H vanishes on the diagonal, that it is strictly positive outside it and that we allow for self interaction in our game, i.e. we replace \mathcal{L} with $\mathcal{L}_H(\gamma) = \mathcal{L}(\gamma) + \mathcal{H}(\gamma, \gamma)$. Then minimizers of $\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}$ are of the form

(43)
$$\gamma_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{(x_i, y_i)}, \text{ where } (y_1, \dots, y_N) \in \operatorname{argmin} J_{\omega, N}.$$

(iv) If
$$H = +\infty$$
 in the diagonal, any minimizer of $\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}$ is atomless.

Proof. The first equality in (42) comes from the bijection between the set of pure equilibrium measures and $\mathcal{Y}^{\otimes N}$. The second is a direct consequence of the fact that the measures γ_N in the domain of $\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}$ can be written as

$$\gamma_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i} \otimes \nu_i,$$

so that we can write

$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}(\gamma_N) = \int_{\mathcal{Y}^{\otimes N}} J_{\omega,N}(y_1,\ldots,y_N) \mathrm{d}
u_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes
u_N.$$

Then for any admissible γ_N , we have

$$\min_{\mathscr{P}_{\mu_N(\omega)}(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}(\gamma) \geq \min_{\mathcal{Y}^{\otimes N}} J_{\omega,N}.$$

Taking γ_N with second marginal supported on the set of minimizers of $J_{\omega,N}$ gives the result.

The proof of assertion (ii) is analogous to the proof of Proposition 4.2.

To prove (iii), notice that from item (i) and the fact that $H \ge 0$ it holds that

$$\inf \mathcal{J}_{\omega,N} \ge \inf J_{\omega,N} + \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathcal{H}(\nu_{\omega,i},\nu_{\omega,i}) \ge \inf \mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}.$$

Which means that $\mathcal{H}(\nu_{\omega,i},\nu_{\omega,i})=0$ for all $i=1,\ldots,N$, and since H only vanishes in the diagonal, it must hold that $\nu_{\omega,i}=\delta_{y_i}$. From (i) and the previous argument, any minimizer of \mathcal{J} is of the form of (43).

With a dual reasoning, if γ_N has an atom, *i.e.* if there is a point where $\gamma_N(\{x_i, y_i\}) > 0$, and H explodes in the diagonal, the self interaction term gives $\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}(\gamma_N) = +\infty$ and it cannot be a minimizer.

4.2.2. Γ -convergence for the closed loop formulation. Now we move on to the question of the convergence of a sequence of Nash equilibria for the games in closed loop (38). In this case we have a family of games indexed by the sample $\omega = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ of the players' state variables, therefore we can only expect a Γ convergence to hold with \mathbb{P} -probability 1. We start by showing a general Lemma that gives Γ -convergence with full probability.

Lemma 4.10. Given a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ and a family of functionals $(\mathscr{F}_{\omega,N})_{\substack{N \in \mathbb{N} \\ \omega \in \Omega}}$ and a functional \mathscr{F} over a Polish space \mathcal{X} such that

(1) there is a set Ω_0 with full \mathbb{P} -probability such that for any $x_N \to x$ the Γ – lim inf inequality for $\mathscr{F}_{\omega,N}$ holds

$$\mathscr{F}(x) \leq \liminf_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_{\omega,N}(x_N), \text{ for all } \omega \in \Omega_0$$

(2) for each $x \in \mathcal{X}$ there is a set Ω_x with full \mathbb{P} -probability for which we can construct recovery sequences of $\mathscr{F}_{\omega,N}$

$$\limsup_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_{\omega,N}(x_N) \leq \mathscr{F}(x), \text{ for all } \omega \in \Omega_x.$$

Under these conditions, there is a set $\overline{\Omega}_0$ with full \mathbb{P} -probability such that for any $\omega \in \overline{\Omega}_0$ the sequence $\mathscr{F}_{\omega,N}$ Γ -converges to \mathscr{F} .

Proof. First we claim that there exists a countable and dense set $\mathscr{D} \subset \mathcal{X}$ which is dense in the energy \mathscr{F} , i.e. for each $x \in \mathcal{X}$ there is $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathscr{D}$ such that

(44)
$$x_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} x \text{ and } \mathscr{F}(x_n) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \mathscr{F}(x).$$

See for instance [2, Lemma 11.12] for a constructive argument, a simple proof comes from the fact that $\mathbb{R} \times \text{dom } \mathscr{F}$ is separable as an (arbitrary) subset of the separable space $\mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{X}$, since subsets of second countable spaces are second countable.

Hence we can define the set Ω_0 as

$$\bar{\Omega}_0 \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \Omega_0 \cap \bigcap_{x \in \mathscr{D}} \Omega_x,$$

where Ω_0 denotes the set where the Γ -lim inf holds for all points $x \in \mathcal{X}$ and Ω_x denotes the event in which we can construct recovery sequences for x. Since \mathscr{D} is countable, it holds that $\mathbb{P}(\bar{\Omega}_0) = 1$.

To prove the Γ -convergence for each $\omega \in \overline{\Omega}_0$, we recall the notions of lower and upper Γ limits from Section 2.3, and to conclude it suffices to prove for all $\omega \in \overline{\Omega}_0$ that Γ -lim inf $\mathscr{F}_{\omega,N} = \Gamma$ -lim sup $\mathscr{F}_{\omega,N} = \mathscr{F}$. Indeed, item (1) shows that

$$\mathscr{F} \leq \Gamma$$
-lim inf $\mathscr{F}_{\omega,N}$, for all $\omega \in \overline{\Omega}_0$.

On the other hand, from item (2), it follows for any $x \in \mathscr{D}$ that

$$\Gamma$$
-lim sup $\mathscr{F}_{\omega,N}(x) \leq \mathscr{F}(x)$, for all $\omega \in \Omega_0$.

Hence, for any $\omega \in \Omega_0$ and an arbitrarily $x \in \mathcal{X}$, let $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence in \mathscr{D} satisfying (44), so that using the lower semi-continuity of the Γ upper limit we have that

$$\Gamma - \limsup_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_{\omega,N}(x) \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left(\Gamma - \limsup_{N \to \infty} \mathscr{F}_{\omega,N}(x_n) \right) \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathscr{F}(x_n) = \mathscr{F}(x)$$

which gives the Γ -convergence with full probability.

To apply this Lemma, we know from the Glivenko-Cantelli law of large numbers that empirical measures converge \mathbb{P} almost surely. Hence, we consider the set

(45)
$$\Omega_0 \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \left\{ \omega = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \in \text{supp } \mathbb{P} : \begin{array}{c} x_i \neq x_j, \text{ for } i \neq j \\ \mu_N(\omega) \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \mu \end{array} \right\}.$$

The first condition above is so that the sequence of functionals $\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}$ is well-defined for any $\omega \in \Omega_0$. From the fact that μ is atomless and the above discussion, $\mathbb{P}(\Omega_0) = 1$.

While the Γ -limit argument will be similar to the open loop information structure, for the Γ -limsup we will use a construction depending on a sequence of random variations of the form

(46)
$$\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} L_i + \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{i \neq j} H_{i,j}$$

where
$$L_i \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} c(X_i, Y_i) + L(Y_i), \quad H_{i,j} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} H(Y_i, Y_j),$$

where $(X_i, Y_i) \sim \gamma$. The first sum is fortunately an i.i.d. sequence, so that from the law of large numbers it must converge to its mean. The second term however is not i.i.d., but it is *exchangeable* as it can be written as a symmetric function of an i.i.d. sample. In the following Proposition, whose proof is a synthesis of the ideas from [34, Chap. 12], we show that such families of random variables also enjoy a law of large numbers.

Proposition 4.11. Let $(\bar{H}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of random variables obtained as the symmetric image of an *i.i.d.* sample, that is let it be the enumeration of the family of random variables

$$\left(\Phi(X_i, X_j)\right)_{i \neq j \in \mathbb{N}},$$

where $\Phi: \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a symmetric function and $(X_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ is an i.i.d. sample. Then

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=1}^{N}\bar{H}_n\xrightarrow[N\to\infty]{}\mathbb{E}[\bar{H}_1], \text{ with probability 1.}$$

For the sake of readability of the main ideas employed to prove the Γ -convergence result, we include the proof of the previous proposition in Appendix A.

Theorem 4.12. With full \mathbb{P} -probability, the sequence of functionals $\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}$ convergence to \mathcal{J} in the sense of Γ convergence in the narrow topology of $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$.

Proof. It suffices to verify the hypothesis of Lemma 4.10. To prove (1), consider $\omega \in \Omega_0$ defined above in (45), and let $(\gamma_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence such that $\gamma_N \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_N}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ and converging to γ . So we can assume that γ_N can be written as $\gamma_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i} \otimes \nu^{x_i}$, where $\nu^{x_i} \in \mathscr{P}(\mathcal{Y})$ and for any $\omega \in \Omega_0$, it follows from the continuity w.r.t. convergence of marginals that $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$.

For an arbitrary M > 0, define $\mathcal{H}^M(\nu, \nu) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int H \wedge M d\nu \otimes \nu$, and it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}(\gamma_N) &\geq \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c \mathrm{d}\gamma_N + \underbrace{\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathcal{L}(\nu^{x_i})}_{=\mathcal{L}(\nu_N)} + \underbrace{\frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{i,j} \mathcal{H}^M(\nu^{x_i}, \nu^{x_j})}_{=\mathcal{H}^M(\nu_N, \nu_N)} - \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathcal{H}^M(\nu^{x_i}, \nu^{x_i}) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c \mathrm{d}\gamma_N + \mathcal{L}(\nu_N) + \mathcal{H}^M(\nu_N, \nu_N) - \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathcal{H}^M(\nu^{x_i}, \nu^{x_i}) \\ &\geq \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c \mathrm{d}\gamma_N + \mathcal{L}(\nu_N) + \mathcal{H}^M(\nu_N, \nu_N) - \frac{M}{N}. \end{aligned}$$

The sum on the RHS vanishes as $N \to \infty$ for each M > 0 and hence the lower semicontinuity of the remaining terms w.r.t. narrow convergence, as integrals of l.s.c. integrands, for every M > 0 gives

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{N \to \infty} \mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}(\gamma_N) &\geq \liminf_{N \to \infty} \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c \mathrm{d}\gamma_N + \mathcal{L}(\nu_N) + \mathcal{H}^M(\nu_N,\nu_N) \\ &\geq \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c \mathrm{d}\gamma + \mathcal{L}(\nu) + \mathcal{H}^M(\nu,\nu). \end{split}$$

Noticing that from the monotone convergence theorem $\mathcal{H}(\nu, \nu) = \sup_{M>0} \mathcal{H}^M(\nu, \nu)$, the Γ -lim inf follows.

To verify property (2) from Lemma 4.10, given some $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, let $\nu = (\pi_{\mathcal{Y}})_{\sharp}\gamma$. By an application of the disintegration theorem one can write $\gamma = \nu^x \otimes \mu$ for some Borel map $(\nu^x)_{x \in \mathcal{X}}$, *i.e.*

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}}\varphi(x,y)\mathrm{d}\gamma = \int_{\mathcal{X}}\left(\int_{\mathcal{Y}}\varphi(x,y)\mathrm{d}\nu^{x}(y)\right)\mathrm{d}\mu(x), \text{ for all } \varphi \in C_{b}(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y})$$

This disintegration family is only μ -a.e.uniquely defined, but we can fix one such family and define a new transportation plan as $\gamma_N \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \mu_N \otimes \nu^x$. Since we have fixed one disintegration family, $\gamma_N \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_N}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$ is well-defined for every event $\omega = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$. From the definition, it then holds that

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}}\phi(x,y)\mathrm{d}\gamma_N \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^N \int \phi(x_i,y)\mathrm{d}\nu^{x_i}, \text{ for all } \phi \in C_b(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}).$$

Hence $\gamma_N \in \Pi(\mu_N, \nu_N)$ where $\mu_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i}, \ \nu_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \nu^{x_i}.$

Let us prove that γ_N converges narrowly to γ ; indeed from Prop. 2.3 we know there is a countable set $\mathcal{K} \subset C_b(X)$, such that to prove narrow convergence it suffices to verify that

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} f(x,y) \mathrm{d}\gamma_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} f(x,y) \mathrm{d}\gamma, \text{ for all } f \in \mathcal{K}.$$

For each $f \in \mathcal{K}$, we compute

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} f(x,y) \mathrm{d}\gamma_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} f(x_i,y) d\nu^{x_i}(y).$$

Hence, each term of the sum on the right is a realization of the i.i.d. sequence of random variables $F_i \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{Y}} f(X_i, \cdot) \mathrm{d}\nu^{X_i}$. From the strong law of large numbers, it holds with

probability 1 that

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y}} f \mathrm{d}\gamma_N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N F_i(\omega) \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[F_1] = \int_X f \mathrm{d}\gamma.$$

Let $\Omega_{\gamma,f}$ denote the set of probability 1, which depends on γ and f, where the above converge holds. Then defining

$$\tilde{\Omega}_{\gamma} = \bigcap_{f \in \mathcal{K}} \Omega_{\gamma, f},$$

we have that $\mathbb{P}(\tilde{\Omega}_{\gamma}) = 1$ and for any $\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}_{\gamma}$ it holds that $\gamma_N \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \gamma$.

We now apply a similar argument to the convergence of the energies. Indeed, writing

$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega,N}(\gamma_N) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \int_{\mathcal{Y}} \left(c(x_i, y) + L(y) \right) \mathrm{d}\nu^{x_i}(y) + \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{j \neq i} \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}\nu^{x_i} \otimes \nu^{x_j}.$$

We see that the first sum is the empirical average of the i.i.d. sequence of random variables $L_i \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{Y}} (c(X_i, y) + L(y)) d\nu^{X_i}(y)$ while the double sum can be written in terms of the sequence $H_{i,j} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int H d\nu^{X_i} \otimes \nu^{X_j}$. As a consequence, applying once again the strong law of large numbers, there is a set $\Omega_{L,\gamma}$ with probability 1, such that for any $\omega \in \Omega_{L,\gamma}$ it holds that

$$\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} L_i(\omega) \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[L_1] = \int_{\mathcal{X}} \left[\int_{\mathcal{Y}} (c(x, y) + L(y)) d\nu^x(y) \right] d\mu(x)$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} (c(x, y) + L(y)) d\gamma = \int_{\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y}} c d\gamma + \mathcal{L}(\nu).$$

For the second term, the random variables $(H_{i,j})_{i\neq j}$ are no longer i.i.d., but satisfy the hypothesis of Thm. 4.11 with Φ given by

$$\Phi(x_1, x_2) \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}\nu^{x_1} \otimes \nu^{x_2},$$

which is symmetric and measurable from the measurability of the family $(\nu^x)_{x \in \mathcal{X}}$. We conclude that there is another set $\Omega_{H,\gamma}$ with probability 1 such that for all $\omega \in \Omega_{H,\gamma}$ it holds that

$$\frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{j \neq i} \int_{\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y}} H \mathrm{d}\nu^{x_i} \otimes \nu^{x_j} \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[H_{1,2}] = \mathcal{H}(\nu, \nu)$$

Finally, the set $\Omega_{\gamma} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \tilde{\Omega}_{\gamma} \cap \Omega_{L,\gamma} \cap \Omega_{H,\gamma}$ has probability 1 and satisfies all the properties of item (2).

From the thesis of Lemma 4.10, the Γ convergence with full \mathbb{P} -probability follows

As in the closed loop case, with an analogous proof to the open loop case, we obtain a result assuring, with full \mathbb{P} -probability, the convergence of a particular sequence of Nash equilibria to equilibria of Cournot-Nash type, and whenever H is continuous the convergence of any sequence of Nash equilibria.

Theorem 4.13. Assume that $\inf_{\mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y})} \mathcal{J} < \infty$, then there are sequences of Nash equilibria for the game (38), described by transportation plans $(\gamma_N)_{N\in\mathbb{N}}$ such that, with full \mathbb{P} -probability, converge up to a subsequence in the narrow topology to a Cournot-Nash equilibrium $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X}\times\mathcal{Y})$, in the sense of Definition 1.1. Assuming in addition that $H \in C_b(\mathcal{Y} \times \mathcal{Y})$, with \mathbb{P} -full probability, for any sequence of Nash equilibria $(\gamma_N)_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ from game (38), that is

(47)
$$\gamma_N \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i} \otimes \nu_{i,N} \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu_N(\omega)}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$$

converging to γ in the narrow topology of $\mathscr{P}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, it holds that $\gamma \in \mathscr{P}_{\mu}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$, and it is a Cournot-Nash equilibrium in the sense of Definition 1.1.

5. CONCLUSION

If anything, the convergence of Nash to Cournot-Nash equilibria demonstrates how difficult the convergence question in the context of Mean Field Games is. The Γ -convergence approach relies entirely on the fact that a variational description of equilibria in provided in Thm. 3.3 and is not useful to other games, for which we have only fixed point techniques at disposal. The following questions then present themselves:

- Can we consider other types of energy? The analysis seems very specific to an energy that is the sum of an individual and a pair-wise interaction costs.
 - Using the characterization of convex functions as the envelope of all linear functions below it, one could try to adapt the arguments of the linear term to the case of an individual convex energy.
 - In principle, the arguments treating the pair-wise interaction term could be extended to a k-wise interaction, as long as the number of players interacting remains uniformly bounded, as in this case an analogous law of large numbers from Appendix A should hold.
- Another direction would be to derive a large deviations principle for the Gibbs measures associated with the potential function of the *N*-player games, whose Nash equilibria converge to Cournot-Nash equilibria, in accordance with the statistical mechanics intuition that motivated the original name Mean Field Games.
- In games where the underlying space \mathcal{X} is euclidean and the cost c is a continuous and convex function, the connections with optimal transport described in the introduction allows us to conclude that minimizers of the potential function are equilibria in pure strategies. However, we cannot apply these results to the very natural case of Lagrangian MFGs, since c becomes the indicator function of satisfying prescribed initial conditions, see example 3.6. Can we obtain conditions guaranteeing that solutions are of pure strategies type?

Appendix A. The law of large numbers for symmetric functions of an i.i.d. sample

In this appendix we prove Proposition 4.11. The ideas are a minor modification of the presentation of [34], hence our goal is to make it as self-contained as possible to readers less familiarized with probability theory, but we hope it can be useful in other contexts as well. We also observe that this proof remains true if one considers $\Phi : \mathcal{X}^{\otimes k} \to \mathbb{R}$, for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$. With this we can now proceed with our Γ -convergence type result.

Proposition A.1. Let $(H_{i,j})_{i \neq j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of random variables obtained as

$$H_{i,j} = (\Phi(X_i, X_j))_{i \neq j \in \mathbb{N}},$$

where $\Phi: \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a symmetric function and $(X_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ is an i.i.d. sample. Then

$$\frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i,j \le N \\ i \ne j}} H_{i,j} \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \mathbb{E}[H_{1,2}], \text{ with probability } 1.$$

Proof of Prop. 4.11. First, define the exchangeable σ -algebra as follows: we say a function $f: \mathbb{R}^{\otimes \mathbb{N}} \to \mathbb{R}$ is *n*-symmetric if it is symmetric w.r.t. permutations of at most *n* indexes. In other words, for any permutation $\sigma : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ swapping at most n indexes, then $f\left((x_{\sigma(n)})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\right) = f\left((x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\right)$. We then define the exchangeable σ -algebra as

$$\mathcal{E}_{\infty} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{E}_n, \text{ where } \mathcal{E}_n \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \sigma \left(\left\{ f\left((X_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \right) : \frac{f : \mathbb{R}^{\otimes \mathbb{N}} \to \mathbb{R}}{\text{ is } n \text{-symmetric and Borel}} \right\} \right),$$

where $\sigma(\{F_i\}_{i \in I})$ is defined as the smallest σ -algebra that makes the hole family of random variables $(F_i)_{i \in I}$ measurable. Take $g : \mathbb{R}^{\otimes \mathbb{N}} \to \mathbb{R}$, bounded and *n*-symmetric function, for all $i \leq n$, it holds from

exchangeability that

$$\mathbb{E} \left[H_{i,j}g\left(X_{\cdot}\right) \right] = \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi(X_i, X_j)g\left(X_1, X_2, X_3, \dots, X_{i-1}, X_i, X_{i+1}, \dots, X_{j-1}, X_j, X_{j+1}, \dots \right) \right]$$

= $\mathbb{E} \left[\Phi(X_1, X_2)g\left(X_i, X_j, X_3, \dots, X_{i-1}, X_1, X_{i+1}, \dots, X_{j-1}, X_2, X_{j+1}, \dots \right) \right]$
= $\mathbb{E} \left[H_{1,2}g\left(X_{\cdot}\right) \right]$

In particular, taking $g = 1_A$ for an arbitrary set $A \in \mathcal{E}_n$ and averaging the above equality for all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ with $i \neq j$, we obtain that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{n(n-1)}\sum_{i\neq j}H_{i,j}\mathbf{1}_A\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[H_{1,2}\mathbf{1}_A\right], \text{ so that } \frac{1}{n(n-1)}\sum_{i\neq j}H_{i,j} = \mathbb{E}\left[H_{1,2}|\mathcal{E}_n\right],$$

by the definition of conditional expectation for L^1 random variables. This means that $\frac{1}{n(n-1)}\sum_{i\neq j}H_{i,j}$ is a backwards martingale for the filtration $(\mathcal{E}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and a suitable martingale convergence Theorem, [34, Thm. 12.14], gives that

$$\frac{1}{n(n-1)} \sum_{i \neq j} H_{i,j} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \mathbb{E} \left[H_{1,2} | \mathcal{E}_{\infty} \right] \text{ with convergence a.s. and in } L^1.$$

Since $(X_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ is i.i.d., the Hewitt-Savage 0 - 1 law, see [34, Cor. 12.19] and [30], states that \mathcal{E}_{∞} is a trivial σ -algebra, so that for any set $A \in \mathcal{E}_{\infty}$, $\mathbb{P}(A)$ is either 0 or 1. Hence, as $\mathbb{E}[H_{1,2}|\mathcal{E}_{\infty}]$ is an \mathcal{E}_{∞} -adapted random variable, it must be given by a constant given by its mean $\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[H_{1,2}|\mathcal{E}_{\infty}\right]\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[H_{1,2}\right]$, and the result follows.

References

- [1] N. Alon and J. H. Spencer. The probabilistic method. John Wiley & Sons, 4th edition, 2016.
- [2] L. Ambrosio, E. Brué, and D. Semola. Lectures on optimal transport, volume 130. Springer, 1 edition, 2021.
- [3] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, and G. Savaré. Gradient flows in metric spaces and in the space of probability measures. Lectures in Mathematics ETH Zürich. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, second edition, 2008.
- J.-P. Aubin and H. Frankowska. Set-valued analysis. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2009. Reprint of the 1990 edition [MR1048347].
- R. J. Aumann. Markets with a continuum of traders. Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society, pages 39–50, 1964.
- R. J. Aumann. Existence of competitive equilibria in markets with a continuum of traders. Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society, pages 1–17, 1966.
- [7] A. Blanchet and G. Carlier. From nash to cournot-nash equilibria via the monge-kantorovich problem. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 372(2028):20130398, 2014.
- [8] A. Blanchet and G. Carlier. Remarks on existence and uniqueness of cournot-nash equilibria in the non-potential case. Mathematics and Financial Economics, 8:417–433, 2014.
- [9] A. Blanchet and G. Carlier. Optimal transport and cournot-nash equilibria. Mathematics of Operations Research, 41(1):125–145, 2016.
- [10] A. Blanchet, G. Carlier, and L. Nenna. Computation of cournot-nash equilibria by entropic regularization. Vietnam Journal of Mathematics, 46:15–31, 2018.

34 JOÃO MIGUEL MACHADO, GUILHERME MAZANTI, AND LAURENT PFEIFFER

- [11] A. Braides. Gamma-convergence for beginners. Number 22 in Oxford lecture series in mathematics and its applications. Oxford University Press, New York, 2002.
- [12] L. D. Brown and R. Purves. Measurable selections of extrema. The Annals of Statistics, 1(5):902–912, 1973.
- [13] P. Cardaliaguet. Notes on mean field games. Technical report, Technical report, 2010.
- [14] P. Cardaliaguet. The convergence problem in mean field games with local coupling. Applied Mathematics & Optimization, 76:177–215, 2017.
- [15] P. Cardaliaguet, F. Delarue, J.-M. Lasry, and P.-L. Lions. The master equation and the convergence problem in mean field games, volume 201 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2019.
- [16] G. Carlier. Duality and existence for a class of mass transportation problems and economic applications. Advances in mathematical economics, pages 1–21, 2003.
- [17] J. A. Carrillo, R. J. McCann, and C. Villani. Kinetic equilibration rates for granular media and related equations: entropy dissipation and mass transportation estimates. *Revista Matematica Iberoameri*cana, 19(3):971–1018, 2003.
- [18] J. A. Carrillo, R. J. McCann, and C. Villani. Contractions in the 2-wasserstein length space and thermalization of granular media. Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 179:217–263, 2006.
- [19] H. Crauel. Random probability measures on Polish spaces, volume 11. CRC press, 2002.
- [20] F. Cucker and S. Smale. Emergent behavior in flocks. IEEE Trans. Automat. Control, 52(5):852–862, 2007.
- [21] G. Dal Maso. An Introduction to Γ-convergence. Number v. 8 in Progress in nonlinear differential equations and their applications. Birkhäuser, Boston, MA, 1993.
- [22] R. M. Dudley. The speed of mean glivenko-cantelli convergence. The Annals of Mathematical Statistics, 40(1):40–50, 1969.
- [23] R. M. Dudley. *Real Analysis and Probability*. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, 2 edition, 2002.
- [24] K. Falconer. Fractal geometry: mathematical foundations and applications. John Wiley & Sons, 2004.
- [25] I. Fonseca and G. Leoni. Modern methods in the calculus of variations: L[^] p spaces. Springer Science & Business Media, 2007.
- [26] O. Frostman. Potential d'équilibre et capacité des ensembles avec quelques applications à la théorie des fonctions. Meddel. Lunds Univ. Math. Sem., 3:1, 1935.
- [27] W. Gangbo and R. McCann. The geometry of optimal transportation. Acta Math, 177:113-161, 1996.
- [28] N. García Trillos and D. Slepčev. Continuum limit of total variation on point clouds. Archive for rational mechanics and analysis, 220:193–241, 2016.
- [29] S. Hart, W. Hildenbrand, and E. Kohlberg. On equilibrium allocations as distributions on the commodity space. *Journal of Mathematical Economics*, 1(2):159–166, 1974.
- [30] E. Hewitt and L. J. Savage. Symmetric measures on cartesian products. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 80(2):470–501, 1955.
- [31] R. Jordan, D. Kinderlehrer, and F. Otto. The variational formulation of the fokker-planck equation. SIAM journal on mathematical analysis, 29(1):1–17, 1998.
- [32] O. Kallenberg et al. Random measures, theory and applications, volume 1. Springer, 2017.
- [33] L. V. Kantorovich. On the translocation of masses. In Dokl. Akad. Nauk. USSR (NS), volume 37, pages 199–201, 1942.
- [34] A. Klenke. Probability theory: a comprehensive course. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [35] J.-M. Lasry and P.-L. Lions. Jeux à champ moyen. I. Le cas stationnaire. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 343(9):619–625, 2006.
- [36] J.-M. Lasry and P.-L. Lions. Jeux à champ moyen. II. Horizon fini et contrôle optimal. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 343(10):679–684, 2006.
- [37] J.-M. Lasry and P.-L. Lions. Mean field games. Jpn. J. Math., 2(1):229–260, 2007.
- [38] K. Liu and L. Pfeiffer. Mean field optimization problems: stability results and lagrangian discretization. arXiv preprint arXiv:2310.20037, 2023.
- [39] A. Mas-Colell. On a theorem of schmeidler. Journal of Mathematical Economics, 13(3):201–206, 1984.
- [40] G. Monge. Mémoire sur la théorie des déblais et des remblais. Mem. Math. Phys. Acad. Royale Sci., pages 666–704, 1781.
- [41] A. C. Ponce. Elliptic pdes, measures and capacities. Tracts in Mathematics, 23:10, 2016.
- [42] S. Sadeghi Arjmand. Mean field games with free final time. PhD thesis, École Polytechnique, CMAP, 2022.
- [43] F. Santambrogio. Optimal transport for applied mathematicians. Birkäuser, NY, 55(58-63):94, 2015.
- [44] F. Santambrogio and W. Shim. A Cucker-Smale inspired deterministic mean field game with velocity interactions. SIAM J. Control Optim., 59(6):4155–4187, 2021.
- [45] D. Schmeidler. Equilibrium points of nonatomic games. Journal of statistical Physics, 7:295–300, 1973.

- [46] S. Serfaty. Coulomb gases and Ginzburg-Landau vortices. European Mathematical Society (EMS) Zurich, 2015.
- [47] S. Serfaty. Lectures on coulomb and riesz gases. arXiv preprint arXiv:2407.21194, 2024.
- [48] D. W. Stroock and S. S. Varadhan. Multidimensional diffusion processes, volume 233. Springer Science & Business Media, 1997.
- [49] C. Villani et al. Optimal transport: old and new, volume 338. Springer, 2009.

LAGRANGE MATHEMATICAL AND COMPUTATIONAL CENTER, 103 RUE DE GRENELLE, PARIS, 75007 Email address: joao-miguel.machado@ceremade.dauphine.fr

L2S—CENTRALESUPÉLEC, BÂTIMENT BREGUET 3, RUE JOLIOT-CURIE, 91190 GIF-SUR-YVETTE FRANCE *Email address*: guilherme.mazanti@inria.fr

L2S—CENTRALESUPÉLEC, BÂTIMENT BREGUET 3, RUE JOLIOT-CURIE, 91190 GIF-SUR-YVETTE FRANCE *Email address*: laurent.pfeiffer@inria.fr